
Agenda compiled by;
John Grieve
Governance Services
Civic Hall
Tel: 0113 37 88662

Produced on Recycled Paper

CITY PLANS PANEL

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Thursday, 29th June, 2017 at 1.30 pm

MEMBERSHIP

P Gruen
N Walshaw
J McKenna 
(Chair)
A Khan
A Garthwaite
B Selby
C Macniven
E Nash

C Campbell R Procter
G Latty

T Leadley D Blackburn

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

Item
No

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and 
public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting)

SITE VISIT LETTER



2  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which 
officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the 
officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information.

3 If so, to formally pass the following 
resolution:-

RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:-

3  LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes)

4  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13 -16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.  

Item
No

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No



5  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

6  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

To consider and approve the Minutes of the 
previous meeting held on 18th May 2017.

(Copy attached)

3 - 14

7  MATTERS ARISING

To consider any matters arising from the minutes 
of the previous meeting.

8  Ardsley and 
Robin Hood

APPLICATION NO. 16/05981/OT - OUTLINE 
APPLICATION (ALL MATTERS RESERVED 
EXCEPT FOR PARTIAL MEANS OF ACCESS 
TO, BUT NOT WITHIN THE SITE) FOR 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT UP TO 770 
DWELLINGS AND CONVENIENCE STORE 
TOGETHER WITH CREATION OF NEW AREAS 
OF PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AND DRAINAGE 
ATTENUATION WORKS TO LAND AT 
DUNNINGLEY LANE, TINGLEY, WF3 1SJ.

To consider a report by the Chief Planning Officer 
which sets out details of an outline application (all 
matters reserved except for partial means of 
access to, but not within the Site) for residential 
development up to 770 dwellings and convenience 
store together with creation of new areas of public 
open space and drainage attenuation works to land 
at Dunningley Lane, Tingley, WF3 1SJ.

(Report attached)

15 - 
60

Item
No

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No



9  City and 
Hunslet

PREAPP/16/00090 - PRE - APPLICATION 
PRESENTATION FOR RETROSPECTIVE 
DEMOLITION OF 101-104 KIRKGATE, THE 
DEMOLITION OF 10-11 CROWN COURT, AND 
THE CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW MIXED-USE 
BUILDING AT 101 - 104 KIRKGATE, LEEDS, 
LS2 7DJ & PREAPP/17/00154 FOR 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WITH 
A3/LEISURE AND PARKING AT CAR PARK, 
CROWN STREET, LEEDS

To consider a report by the Chief Planning Officer 
which sets out details of a Pre – Application 
Presentation (PREAPP/16/00090) for retrospective 
demolition of 101-104 Kirkgate, the demolition of 
10-11 Crown Court, and the construction of a new 
mixed-use building at 101 - 104 Kirkgate, Leeds, 
LS2 7DJ & PREAPP/17/00154 for residential 
development with A3/leisure and parking at Car 
Park, Crown Street, Leeds

(Report attached)

61 - 
76

10 Burmantofts 
and Richmond 
Hill

PREAPP/17/00138 - PRE-APPLICATION 
PRESENTATION FOR A 8-14 STOREYS OF 300 
FLATS WITH LANDSCAPING, PARKING AND 
ASSOCIATED WORKS TO LAND OFF FLAX 
PLACE, RICHMOND STREET AND MARSH 
LANE, CROSS GREEN, LS9 8HG

To consider a report by the Chief Planning Officer 
which sets out details of a Pre-Application 
Presentation (PREAPP/17/00138) for a 8-14 
storeys of 300 flats with landscaping, parking and 
associated works to Land Off Flax Place, 
Richmond Street And Marsh Lane, Cross Green, 
LS9 8HG.

(Report attached)

77 - 
86

11 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

To note that the next meeting will take place on 
Thursday, 20th July 2017 at 1.30pm in the Civic 
Hall, Leeds.

Item
No

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No



Third Party Recording 

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and 
to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this 
agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the recording was made, the context of 
the discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the 
proceedings or comments made by attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those points must be complete.

Item
No

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No



www.leeds.gov.uk general enquiries 0113 222 4444             ®

Planning Services 
The Leonardo Building 
2 Rossington Street
Leeds
LS2 8HD

Contact:  Daljit Singh 
Tel:  0113  3787971
daljit.singh@leeds.gov.uk

                                                               
Our ref:  City Site Visits 
Date:  19.6.2017

Dear Councillor

SITE VISITS – CITY PLANS PANEL – THURSDAY 29th June 2017

Prior to the meeting of City Plans Panel on Thursday 29th June 2017 the following site visits 
will take place. 

Time Ward  Site
9.50 -
10.20 am

Ardsley & Robin 
Hood

16/05981/OT – Residential proposal for land at Dunningley Lane, 
Tingley

10.50 -
11.20am

Burmantofts & 
Richmond Hill

PREAPP/I7/00138 –Residential proposal for land at Flax Place 

11.30 -
12.0pm

City & Hunslet PREAPP/16/00090 & PREAPP/17/00154 – Mixed use proposal for 
land at Kirkgate and Crown Street

A mini-bus will be leaving from the Civic Hall at 9.30 am.  Please notify Daljit Singh (Tel: 
3787971) if you will be attending and meet in the Ante Chamber at 9.25 am at the latest.

Yours sincerely

Daljit Singh
Central Area Team Leader

To all Members of City Plans Panel

Page 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

CITY PLANS PANEL

THURSDAY, 18TH MAY, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor J McKenna in the Chair

Councillors P Gruen, R Procter, 
D Blackburn, G Latty, T Leadley, 
N Walshaw, C Campbell, A Khan, 
A Garthwaite, J Heselwood, C Macniven 
and S McKenna

A Member site visit was held in the morning in connection with the following 
proposals: Application Nos 16/07714/FU & 16/07734/LI Former Doncaster 
Monkbridge Site and other redevelopment sites along Whitehall Road and 
PREAPP 17/00098 – Sweet Street, Holbeck and was attended by the 
following Councillors: J McKenna, C Campbell, D Blackburn, S McKenna, 
P Gruen, A Garthwaite, C Macniven and T Leadley.

168 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents 

There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents

169 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of Press and Public 

There were no items identified where it was considered necessary to exclude 
the press or public from the meeting due to the nature of the business to be 
considered.

170 Late Items 

There were no late items of business.

171 Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Councillor J Heselwood declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in Agenda 
Item No. 10 Pre Application Presentation for amendments to approved Leeds 
City College Building (Application No.16/05468/FU) on land at Quarry Hill, 
Leeds. Councillor Heselwood informed the Panel that she was employed by 
the college. During consideration of the item she withdrew from the meeting 
and took no part in the discussion or voting thereon (Minutes No. 177 refers) 

172 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors B Selby

Councillors: S McKenna was in attendance as a substitute

173 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

With reference to Minute No.164 and the reference to affordable housing 
provision. Councillor Leadley requested that the minute be amended to read 
as follows; 

Affordable housing provision at 5%, the applicant was willing to consider a 
number of options for on-site delivery for this Private Rented Sector scheme 
including provision through a Social Registered Landlord or alternatively the 
possibility of on-site management directly by the operator. 

RESOLVED – That, with the inclusion of the above, the minutes of the 
previous meeting held on 27th April 2017 were accepted as a true and correct 
record.

174 Matters Arising 

Regeneration Proposals for the Whitehall Road area, Leeds 1 – With 
reference to Minute No.164 of the previous meeting and the suggestion by the 
Chief Planning Officer for Members to visit the Whitehall Road area to be 
informed of the wider regeneration proposals for the area. 

The Chair reported that at the site visit earlier today Members did take the 
opportunity to visit the Whitehall Road area. Members were briefed on a 
number of exciting proposals, Members found the visit useful and informative.

The Chair, on behalf of Members expressed their thanks and appreciation to 
Daljit Singh, Team Leader and Paul Kendall, Principal Planner, Central Area 
Team for their work in setting up the visit.

175 Application No. 16/07938/OT: Variation of conditions 4, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27 
and 28 of permission 15/06583/OT relating to the retail floorspace mix 
and associated matters at land between Barrowby Lane and Manston 
Lane, Thorpe Park, Leeds, LS15 8ZB 

With reference to the meeting of 17th December 2015 and the decision to 
approve the application (15/06583/OT) subject to the satisfactory outcome of 
the additional sequential/impact assessment information. The Chief Planning 
Officer now submitted a report which set out details of a variation of conditions 
4, 23, 24,26, 27 and 28 of that permission, relating to the retail floorspace mix 
and associated matters at land between Barrowby Lane and Manston Lane, 
Thorp Park, Leeds, LS15 8ZB

Site photographs and plans were displayed and referred to throughout the 
discussion on the application.

The Chief Planning Officer together with the applicant’s representatives 
addressed the Panel, speaking in detail about the proposal and highlighted 
the following:

 The application sought to vary the retail conditions of the most recent 
outline permission (the ‘cinema permission’ ref: 15/02217/OT) to 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

respond positively to occupier interest and requirements. In particular, 
the ability to attract Marks and Spencer’s (M&S) to Thorpe Park from 
its current location in Cross Gates was a key requirement in terms of 
securing other retailers to the site and at present Condition 26 of the 
cinema permission currently prevents this from happening, as it seeks 
to ensure that retailers, who have occupied units over 500 sq.m Gross 
External Area (GEA) in Cross Gates, Garforth or Rothwell Town 
Centres, within the preceding six months, do not occupy floorspace 
within the Thorpe Park development.

 This application also sought an increase in the retail GEA within the 
approved layout from 18,000 sqm to 21,499 sqm. At the time of the 
earlier outline proposals assessments and assumptions had to be 
made about anticipated retail occupiers. Occupiers were now clearer 
as tenancy agreements with occupiers were signed, and as occupiers 
sign agreements their front and back of house floorspace requirements 
were also becoming clearer. This has led the applicant to seek to an 
increase in the GEA, which largely related to back of house operations, 
such as storage. The application also proposes a modest increase in 
net sales floorspace from 12,800 sqm to 13,099 sqm (an increase of 
299 sqm). 

 The variation sought were set out in paragraphs 2.3 – 2.9 of the 
submitted report 

 All proposals were within the existing form and footprint
 The impact of the new proposals was less than the consented scheme 
 No third party representations or objections had been received
 Ward Members had been consulted

Member’s questions raised the following issues:

 Referring to the history of negotiations, Members queried if the 
application had been adequately publicised 

 Was there a new planning permission required for the proposed 
Manston Lane Link Road (MLLR)  

In responding to the issues raised, the applicant’s representatives confirmed 
that the application had been publicised and that there was a need to renew 
the planning permission required for the proposed (MLLR) but only the East – 
West section.

In offering comments, Members raised the following issues:

 There was concern expressed about the level of car parking, were 911 
spaces adequate

 The proposed height of MLLR in some locations was a concern to a 
small number of neighbouring residents with visual amenity being 
destroyed 

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

 Concern was expressed about the loss of the Marks and Spencer 
Store at Crossgates, it was suggested that this was a flagship retailer 
and other businesses in the area would be affected.

 Referring to the retail impact assessment Members took the view that 
Crossgates should not be worse off as a result of this development, 
losing Marks and Spencer could not simply be dealt through the results 
of a survey, there may be a need to review the “Local Centre Support 
Contribution” of £60,000 

In responding to the issues raised, the Chief Planning Officer/ applicant’s 
representatives confirmed that monitoring and management arrangements for 
the car parking would be put in place, referring to the MLLR it was stated  
there was a need for a refresh of the consent for the East – West section of 
the MLLR and the applicant was willing to work with the individual property 
owners affected by the proposal, the retail impact assessment demonstrated 
the impact on Crossgates had actually reduced relative to the approved 
consent, however, a commitment was provided that if a specific town centre 
initiative was identified that was in excess of the  current pot of £60,000, then 
this could be considered and funded. 

In summing up the Chair said this was an exciting proposal and Members 
were supportive of the variations to the planning consent.

RESOLVED – That the application be approved in principle and referred to 
the Secretary of State for the Department of Communities and Local 
Government as a Departure from the Statutory Development Plan and for 
consultation under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 
Direction 2009, and delegate approval to the Chief Planning Officer subject to 
the suggested conditions and with an additional condition requiring the 
application must also cap the A1 convenience to 4,000sqm GFA as previously 
advised on the grounds of traffic impact (and others which he may consider 
appropriate) and following the completion of a deed of variation to the existing 
Section 106 Agreement so it’s obligations apply equally to this varied 
permission (as set out in Appendix 1 of the submitted report) should the 
Secretary of State decide not to call the application in for determination

176 Application Nos:16/07714/FU and 16/07734/LI - Hybrid planning 
application for the restoration and reuse of Monk Bridge viaduct for A1, 
A2, A3, A4, A5 and D1 uses (up to 4380 sqm); erection of three blocks of 
307 apartments (storey heights between 11-13), creation of open space, 
landscaping and car parking; outline application for two blocks of 
residential developments 13-21 storeys and Listed Building Application 
for the repair and refurbishment of viaduct for A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 and D1 
uses and connections to associated residential buildings, open space, 
landscaping and parking areas at Doncaster Monk Bridge Whitehall 
Road, Lower Wortley Leeds LS12 1BE 

The Chief Planning Officer submitted a report which set out details of a hybrid 
planning application for the restoration and reuse of Monk Bridge viaduct for 
A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 and D1 uses (up to 4380 sqm); erection of three blocks of 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

307 apartments (storey heights between 11-13), creation of open space, 
landscaping and car parking; outline application for two blocks of residential 
developments 13-21 storeys and listed building application for the repair and 
refurbishment of viaduct for A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 and D1 uses and connections 
to associated residential buildings, open space, landscaping and parking 
areas at Doncaster Monk Bridge Whitehall Road, Lower Wortley Leeds,
LS12 1BE

Site photographs and plans were displayed and referred to throughout the 
discussion on the application.

The Chief Planning Officer together with the applicant’s representatives 
addressed the Panel, speaking in detail about the proposal and highlighted 
the following:

 The site measures approximately 1.7 hectares and contains the Grade 
II listed former railway viaduct along the southern boundary with the 
land to the north being cleared.

 The site is located to the southwest of the commercial core of the city 
centre but within the defined city centre boundary. The Leeds Liverpool 
Canal is to the east of the site with the railway line to the west. There is 
a mix of residential, commercial and industrial activities in the 
surrounding area.

 The viaduct was constructed in 1846 for the Leeds and Thirsk Railway 
Company. The viaduct has not been in use since the 1960s when the 
former Wellington train station closed and was subsequently 
demolished.

 The access roads to the commercial plots south of the viaduct have 
also been constructed and connected to Whitehall Road, one of the 
main distributor roads serving Leeds City Centre.

 The proposed development is for up to 607 apartments in five 
buildings. The three western buildings (A,B and C) will provide 307 
apartments intended to be made available to the Private Rented Sector 
(PRS) with the other two buildings (D and E) providing up to 300 units 
for open market sale. The 307 PRS units are applied for in full along 
with the commercial elements mainly contained within the railway 
arches with outline permission being sought for the open market 
dwellings.

 Buildings A,B and C would be between 12 and 14 storeys in height. 
The 307 dwellings sought via full application are 150 x 1 bedroom, 141 
x 2 bedroom and 16 x 3 bedroom apartments.

 Buildings D and E are proposed in outline with maximum heights and 
footprint to be agreed at this stage. Building E is closet to the canal and 
is proposed to range in height between 18 and 21 storeys, with 
Building D ranging in height between 12 and 14 storeys.

 The listed viaduct would be repaired and would be enhanced to provide 
a new elevated landscaped public park that would connect to the 
Wellington Place development to the east.

 56 car parking spaces beneath blocks A,B and C were proposed

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

 In respect of an update on the wind impact assessment, the evidence 
submitted to date demonstrated that there was unlikely to be any wind 
safety issues arising from the development, however, the Council’s 
wind consultant had advised that further clarification be provided of the 
wind mitigation measures required to ensure a comfortable wind 
environment for the intended uses and that the wind impact for each 
phase of the development is also clarified .

 In respect of the update on the highway matters, the only outstanding 
issues related to the need to achieve a 3m wide and attractive 
pedestrian connection through the development site to the existing 
footbridge  over Wellington Bridge Street; the need for further 
clarification and resolution of the servicing arrangements for the 
commercial uses and pedestrian access to the undercroft entrances to 
the residential blocks; and the highway request to provide an enhanced 
crossing for cyclists across Whitehall Road (“Toucan crossing”)

 It was suggested that if Panel were supportive of the overall proposals 
then the resolution of the remaining detailed wind impact and highway 
matters be delegated to the Chief Planning Officer to determine

In response to Members questions, the following were discussed:

 Further clarification around the use and layout of the undercroft area to 
the buildings

 Would all residential tenants have access to communal facilities
 Further clarification was required around the affordable housing 

provision
 How would the development be phased

In providing a response to the above questions the Chief Planning Officer/ 
applicants representatives said: all tenants would have access to communal 
facilities, affordable housing provision would be 5% of the total number of 
units as detailed at paragraph 9.30 of the submitted report and phase 1 of the 
development would include the development of blocks A,B and C and the 
refurbishment of the viaduct including provision of public spaces and the 
commercial units

In offering comment Members provided the following:

 The approach to Affordable Housing provision was a sensible one
 One Member expressed concern about the roof design over the public 

open space area
 Overall Members were supportive of the proposal commenting that it 

was an exciting design and an exceptional development 

In summing up the Chair said all Members were supportive and impressed 
with the proposed development suggesting that the Design Team had 
produced a really good scheme.

RESOLVED – 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

(i) That application 16/07714/FU be deferred and delegated to the 
Chief Planning Officer for approval of the full details and the future 
reserved matters application; for resolution of the outstanding 
highway issues and wind mitigation matters and subject to the 
conditions as specified in the submitted report (and any other which 
he may consider appropriate) and following the completion of a 
Section 106 Agreement to include the following obligations:

In respect of Affordable Housing:

 To provide a 3 month window to discuss with the Local Planning 
Authority the cost of the viaduct works balanced against cost of the 
provision of the Social Rented element of the Affordable Housing 
provision.

 If justified, to accept 5% on site affordable housing provision at 
intermediate rental levels only to be managed directly by the PRS 
provider as detailed in paragraph 9.33 of the submitted report

 To provide the agreed Affordable Housing requirement for the whole 
development within the first phase.

In addition to the above, to provide:

 £129,064 Sustainable Travel Fund
 £20,000 car club trial
 £5,035 Travel Plan Monitoring fee
 Access to public open space areas
 Access to route through to Inner Ring Road footbridge
 Employment and Training for Local People

In the event where the Section 106 Agreement having not been completed 
with 3 months of the resolution to grant planning permission, the final 
determination of the application be delegated to the Chief Planning Officer.

(ii) That application 16/07734/LI be approved subject to the conditions 
specified in the submitted report

177 Pre-application presentation for amendments to approved Leeds City 
College building (application reference 16/05468/FU), on land at Quarry 
Hill, Leeds 

With reference to the meeting of 17th November 2016 and the decision to 
approve the application subject to the satisfactory resolution of outstanding 
matters and conditions (Ref No.16/05468/FU). The Chief Planning Officer 
submitted a report which sought the views of Members on a series of 
amendments to the overall scale and design of the buildings.  

Site photographs and plans were displayed and referred to throughout the 
discussion of the application.

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

The Chief Planning Officer together with the applicant’s representatives 
addressed the Panel, speaking in detail about the revised proposal and 
highlighted the following:

The proposed amendments to the approved scheme were summarised as 
follows:

Phase 1

 A reduction in floor to floor levels from 4.1m to 3.6m and omission of 
levels 7 and 10 to the 2no. higher blocks on Eastgate (5 storeys to a 
maximum of 8 storeys, rather than 10 storeys);

 Re-allocation of space removed from levels 7 and 10 to the courtyard 
terrace on level 02;

 Reduction of parapet heights from 3000mm to 1500mm at lowest point 
to the 3no. blocks on Eastgate;

 Removal of perforated anodised aluminium and replacement with 
frameless glazing with fritted/etched imagery on glass. This would 
create a similar effect to the aluminium with the potential to tie in with 
college branding;

 Reduction in the width of the fins from 450mm to 300mm in single 
colour in the bronze spectrum;

 Changes to the internal courtyard elevation modified to even out the
proportion of glazing (50%) to cladding (50%). The cladding is 
proposed as a flat panel rainscreen aluminium system in a gold/bronze 
colour (lighter than bronze fins); and

 The changes have a minor impact on the approved floor area for 
Phase 1 which increases from 15,480m2 to 15,609m2.

 Disabled access would be provided from Eastgate

Phase 2

 Phase 2 had been revised accordingly, and the overall height reduced, 
to enable the development to read as a family of buildings. The building 
height had been amended from 8 and 11 storeys (approved) to 8 and 
10 storeys. The taller block on Eastgate has been reduced in height by 
10.1m and the 8 storey block reduced by 3.5m.

 This reduces the overall floor area approved for Phase 1 from 
10,000m2 to 9,419m2. 

It was suggested that the combination of changes to Phase 1 and 2 
reduced the overall scale of the buildings in relation to the wider Quarry 
Hill site, including the Caddick Developments site immediately to the east

In response to Members questions the following issues were raised:

 Would the reduction in floor space be sufficient to sustain the future 
development of the college

 Had the vehicle egress and exit issues been satisfactorily addressed

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

 Was funding in place for Phase 2 of the development
 Was progress being made on proposals for public realm to tie in with 

the adjacent Caddick and West Yorkshire Play House developments

In providing a response to the above questions the Chief Planning Officer/ 
applicants representatives said: the reduction in floor space was still sufficient 
to sustain the future development of the college, vehicle movements to and 
from the site had been calculated and this issue was now considered 
resolved, Funding for Phase 2 of the development was being sought, but this 
phase was currently at the outline stage, in terms of proposals for  public 
realm to tie in with adjacent developments, it was reported that there was a 
design concept for the Quarry Hill cluster connection, it was on track, but as 
yet, was not fully funded.

In offering comments Members raised the following issues:

 Some Members took the view that the new scheme still delivered a 
high quality design, the reduction in height exposed buildings behind, 
which was a positive feature; the design was less over-whelming but 
met the needs of the college. 

 Other Members expressed disappointment at the new design 
suggesting it was inferior, bland, a cut price development in a prime 
part of the city. 

In drawing the discussion to a conclusion Members provided the following 
feedback;

 It was the view of the majority of Members that the resultant building 
design, whilst lower in scale remained acceptable.

 The proposed reduction in height of the phase 2 building was 
acceptable 

 To accept that the subsequent application under Section 73 of the Act 
for revisions to the building be determined under powers delegated to 
the Chief Planning Officer, this applying only to Phase 1 of the 
development. 

In summing up the Chair said that although the buildings were lower in scale it 
still delivered a quality design and met the needs of the college.

RESOLVED – 

(i) To note the details contained in the pre-application presentation

(ii) That following the submission of the subsequent application 
under Section 73 of the Act for revisions to the building, final 
determination of the application (Phase 1 only) be delegated to 
the Chief Planning Officer for approval subject to any conditions 
deemed necessary or required by the Chief Planning Officer

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

(iii) That the developers be thanked for their attendance and 
presentation

178 PREAPP/17/00098 Pre-application presentation for  a proposed outline 
residential development at Sweet Street, Holbeck, Leeds LS11 9AA 

The Chief Planning Officer submitted a report which sets out details of a 
Pre-application proposal in respect of a proposed outline application for 
residential development at Sweet Street, Holbeck, Leeds, LS11 9AA.

Site photographs and plans were displayed and referred to throughout the 
discussion of the application. 

The applicant’s representative addressed the Panel, speaking in detail about 
the proposal and highlighted the following:

 The site was currently a vacant warehouse site in the Holbeck Urban 
Village area of Leeds South Bank, in the designated City Centre.

 The site was on the north side of Sweet Street at the junction with 
Siddall Street.

 The immediate surrounding context includes The Mint, an 8 storey 
office building immediately to the east, Manor Mills an 8-9 storey 
residential development to the north-east, a public square, a single 
storey telecommunications centre (with permission for office use) to the 
north, and a single storey warehouse to the west. Along the boundary 
with the site to the north is a group of approximately 25 partly self-
seeded and partly planted rowan and silver birch. 

 The wider context includes the 6-12 storey Dandara residential 
development, approved at City Plans Panel in 2015, and now under 
construction, to the east of The Mint. Opposite the site were single 
storey warehouses, and a temporary surface car park. 

 The immediate surrounding area offers a wide variety of modern 
architectural styles and materials including red brick, light and dark 
brown brick, render, copper cladding, glazed balconies, and natural 
stone. The site lies in flood risk zone 2.

 The maximum height of the building would be 10 residential storeys, 
approximately 33m. The footprint would be U-shaped, fronting onto 
Sweet Street and Siddall Street and the new pedestrian/cycle route to 
the north, forming a west facing courtyard amenity space. The 
indicative building footprint would be set back over 8.6m from the 
boundary to the north, which would allow the provision of the public 
route and not prejudice the development of the sites to the north.

 The proposal is for a maximum of 192 dwellings in the following
Combinations and sizes: 41 x 1 bed (48.5 sqm) 124 x 2 bed (71 sqm) 
18 x 2 bed (74 sqm) and 9 x 2 bed (80 sqm)

 A pedestrian route was proposed along the northern edge of the site, 
this would be a minimum of 2.5m wide and would feature tree planting 
as shown on the indicative scheme. This would be added to if 
neighbouring sites were to come forward for redevelopment at any time 

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

in the future, in order to achieve the aspirations for enhanced 
connectivity within Holbeck.

 62 car parking spaces would be provided to serve the development
 5% Affordable Housing contribution (192 dwellings)

In response to Members questions, the following were raised:

 Could the adjacent site be included as part of the development
 Clarification was required about the ownership of the adjoining land 

and it’s proposed future use
 The design of the building (the inverted C shape) why was this shape 

chosen

In responding to the issues raised, the applicant’s representatives said the 
developers did not own the adjoining land, it was understood to be in Council 
ownership and its future use was unknown. Referring to the shape of the 
building, it was stated that this would enable the redevelopment of the 
adjoining site to the west in a sympathetic courtyard style scheme.

In offering comments Members raised the following issues:

 Reservations were expressed about the shape and scale of the 
building, there may be natural light issues for residents on the lower 
floors

 A desire to see space standards increased was expressed, designing 
apartments with no corridors may create more space

 The provision of electric charging points was requested
 The appearance of the building at street level was considered bland
 The area appeared to be “soulless” there was a lack of infrastructure in 

the area for future residents.

In drawing the discussion to a conclusion Members provided the following 
feedback;

 Members were supportive of the principal of the proposed residential 
use

 Further justification was required on the mix of accommodation 
proposed

 Reservations were expressed about the design of the building, “the 
inverted C shape” and scale seemed to provide overly intensive 
development. It was suggested by Members that perhaps the building 
could be increased in height in order to achieve more space around the 
development.

 Members were supportive to the approach to car parking and 
accessibility

 Further information was required from the City Council’s Asset 
Management Team on the ownership of the adjacent land and its 
possible future use

Page 13



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th June, 2017

In summing up the Chair said there was general support for the scheme and if 
as suggested the building was to be increased in height, then a quality design 
would be expected.

RESOLVED – 

(i) To note the details contained in the pre-application presentation

(ii) That the developers be thanked for their attendance and 
presentation

179 Date and Time of Next Meeting 

RESOLVED – To note that the next meeting would take place on Thursday 
29th June 2017 at 1.30pm in the Civic Hall, Leeds.

Page 14



Report of the Chief Planning Officer

CITY PLANS PANEL

Date: 29th June 2017

Subject: 16/05981/OT - Outline application (all matters reserved except for partial
means of access to, but not within the Site) for residential development up to 770
dwellings and convenience store together with creation of new areas of public open
space and drainage attenuation works,

On land at Dunningley Lane, Tingley, WF3 1SJ

Applicant – The Sir Robert Ogden Partnership

RECOMMENDATION: To contest the appeal that has been made against the non-
determination of the planning application for the following putative reasons:

1. The proposal is contrary to policy SP1 of the adopted Core Strategy which sets
out the spatial development strategy for Leeds, being based on the Leeds
settlement hierarchy and which aims to concentrate the majority of development
within and adjacent to the main urban area and major settlements where it can
benefit from existing services, adequate levels of accessibility and priorities for
urban regeneration. The appeal site is isolated from existing patterns of
development and is neither located within, nor forms an extension to, the Main
Urban Area, a Major Settlement or a Smaller Settlement. The proposed
development fails also to demonstrate how important sustainability factors such
as adequate local school provision are to be met. The proposed location for the
residential development is not considered to be a sustainable.

2. Development in this unsustainable, remote location is contrary to paragraph 70 of
the NPPF which in part provides that decisions “…ensure an integrated approach
to considering the location of housing, economic uses and community facilities

Electoral Wards Affected:

Wetherby

Specific Implications For:

Equality and Diversity

Community Cohesion

Narrowing the Gap

Originator: Ian Cyhanko

Tel: 0113 3787953

Ward Members consultedYes

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



and services”. The proposal is also contrary to paragraph 38 of the NPPF which
seeks that, where practical “…key facilities such as primary schools and local
shops should be located within walking distance of most properties”. The appeal
site lies outside the Main Urban Area, in a location which is unacceptably remote
from local services. The sustainability-related measures promoted are insufficient
to offset or outweigh this important deficiency. The proposed location is not
sustainable for residential development.

3. There is insufficient information submitted with the application to demonstrate
that an acceptable level of accessibility can be achieved for the scale of
development proposed. The appeal site does not meet the accessibility standards
for housing to be located within a 5 minute walk to a bus stop that offers a direct
service to a major public transport interchange at a 15 minute frequency as set
out in the adopted Accessibility Standards of the Core Strategy. The proposal is
contrary to policies SP1, T2 and H2 of the Leeds Core Strategy and policy GP5 of
the adopted UDP Review and guidance in the NPPF.

4. The appeal site is allocated as a Protected Area of Search (constituting
safeguarded land for the purposes of the NPPF, paragraph 85, etc.) through
(saved) Policy N34 of the UDP Review. The release of this PAS site for housing
would be contrary to Policy N34. Development of the PAS site would
unacceptably undermine the plan led system and be contrary to paragraph 85
(bullet 4) of the NPPF which states that “planning permission for the permanent
development of safeguarded land should only be granted following a Local Plan
review, which proposes the development”.

5. Development of the appeal site would predetermine decisions relating to the scale
and phasing of new housing development and the designation of safeguarded
land for homes and jobs beyond the plan period that is set out within the (highly
advanced) Submission Draft/Site Allocations Plan (SAP). The proposal would
have a prejudicial, pre-determinative effect on decision-taking with regards to
directing new development through the SAP and community involvement in the
plan-making process. The appeal site accounts for 18% of the total housing site
allocations for the Outer South West HMCA. The development is considered to be
unacceptably premature, contrary to the Planning Practice Guidance.

6. The proposal fails to demonstrate that the local highway infrastructure, including
the proposed site access off A653 Dewsbury Road and off A654 Thorpe Lane, and
the wider highway network which will be affected by additional traffic as a result
of this development, is capable of safely accommodating these impacts and
adequately accommodating the attendant increase in traffic, cycle and pedestrian
movements generated by the proposed development. The proposal is contrary to
Policy T2 of the Core Strategy, Policy GP5 of the UDP Review and the sustainable
transport guidance contained in the NPPF which combined requires development
not to create or materially add to problems of safety, environment or efficiency on
the highway network.

7. In the absence of a suitable Section 106 agreement the proposed development
fails to provide necessary contributions and/or obligations for the provision and
delivery of affordable housing, housing for independent living, greenspace, travel
planning, public transport enhancements, local facilities and off site highway
works, without which the proposed development would fail to meet directly (and
fairly and reasonably) related needs of the City and of prospective residents,
contrary to the requirements of Policy GP5 of the adopted UDP Review, related
Supplementary Planning Documents, Policies H5, H8, P9, T2, G4 and ID2 of the

Page 16



Leeds Core Strategy and the NPPF.

1.0 Introduction:

1.1 The application is presented to City Plans Panel following the submission of an
appeal against non-determination to the Secretary of State by the applicant on
15 February 2017.

1.2 As part of the anticipated appeal process, the Local Planning Authority (LPA) will
in due course submit evidence in explanation of its assessment of the
application. In light of the views of officers on the application as submitted (that is
it is not acceptable) it is necessary for the LPA to determine how it would have
been minded to determine the application and evidence what its (putative)
reasons for refusal would have been had it determined the application.
Accordingly, this report recommends to Members multiple putative reasons for
refusal and accordingly seeks a decision from Panel.

1.3 The planning application was submitted on 4 October 2016. Since that time
officers have considered consultation responses and local representations in
order to negotiate with the applicant with the intention of narrowing the basis for
objection/refusal.

1.4 Members are also made aware that the applicant submitted on 2 March 2017 a
new application for the appeal site in attempt to resolve outstanding issues and
circumvent the pursuit of the appeal. The new application 17/01103/OT is a
resubmission of application 16/05981/OT.

2.0 Site and Surroundings:

2.1 The appeal site comprises 33ha and is located within South Leeds lying
immediately to the north of the M62 motorway junction 28 with the A653
Dewsbury Road to the west, and the A654 Thorpe Lane to the east. The appeal
site lies to the west of the Morley. The town centre lies approximately 2 km away.
The settlement of Middleton lies approximately 1.5 km to the east. Tingley West
and East Ardsley lie to the south over the motorway. Capitol Park is accessed
off Dewsbury Road to the west. The White Rose Shopping Centre lies 2km to
the north, along Dewsbury Road. Open fields lie to the north of the site.
Denshaw Beck runs south to north across the site. The appeal site is grassed
and has the appearance of a green field.

2.2 The appeal site forms part of a larger site which is designated as a Protected
Area of Search in the UDP Review for the purposes of Policy N34 and is
proposed in the Submission Draft/Site Allocations Plan (SAP) to be designated
as safeguarded land for housing or employment uses, under Policy HG3-23 (with
43.1 ha having the potential for 1,050 homes).

2.3 The appeal site does not include the southern part of the wider PAS site.

2.4 Historically Tingley Station was located on the south-western part of the appeal
site. Tingley Station closed to passengers in 1966. The appeal site of the station

Page 17



and railway embankments and cutting (now filled) are features that lie across it,
on an east-west axis. The appeal site is open with a general fall towards a low
point at the north western corner. The southern boundary falls generally west to
east. The western boundary falls generally south to north away from the south
western corner of the appeal site. The northern boundary rises from the north
western corner of the appeal site.

2.5 The site is predominantly agricultural, with 57.3% of the wider PAS site being
graded as Grade 2 Agricultural Land and 36% being Grade 3a Agricultural Land.

3.0 Proposals

3.1 This proposal is for: ‘Outline planning permission (all matters reserved except for
partial means of access to, but not within the site) for residential development of
up to 770 dwellings together with the creation of new areas of public open space
some of which are not within the redline boundary but within the appellant’s
control and 4000ft² convenience store with primary access taken off the A654
Thorpe Lane’.

3.2 The application was submitted with supporting documentation, including an
illustrative masterplan and other associated drawings.

4.0 Relevant Planning History

4.1 The planning history primarily discloses agricultural use, in addition to use for the
tipping of inert and waste materials.

4.2 An EIA screening opinion was submitted to the LPA on 29 April 2014 (ref.
PREAPP/14/00428). A response was sent on 8 July 2014 which confirmed that
the LPA agreed with the appellant’s assessment of the potential impacts of the
development such and that a full EIA should be submitted in support of any
future planning application.

4.3 An identical planning application was submitted on 2 March 2017, after the
appeal was submitted. This application remains pending consideration of this
Department. The LPA and the applicant are working with Highway officers and
Highways England to resolve highways issues together with other detailed
issues.

5.0 Public / Local response

5.1 The application has been advertised by four site notices which were posted
around the appeal site on 21 October 2016 and through publication in the press,
dated 14 October 2016. The application was advertised as a departure, affecting
a right of way, and was accompanied by an Environmental Statement.

5.2 MP Andrea Jenkyns has objected to the proposed development on the following
grounds:

i) Development of any sort would be difficult due to additional traffic which
would be generated around Junction 28 of the M62;

Page 18



ii) The staggered crossroads on the 4650 at Blackgates is already
overloaded and in the evening peak traffic backs up from Smithy Lane
towards J28, on occasion preventing vehicles leaving the west-bound
exit promptly; a small increase of backing up on the slip-road would bring
vehicles to a stand on the westbound carriageway of the M62, which
would be highly dangerous;

iii) This site shouldn't have been removed from Green Belt, UDP lnspector
was persuaded narrowly that the site might be needed for employment,
since a projected supertram route would have skirted its south-eastern
boundary;

iv) The impact of this development on our schools, health services, and
road networks must be properly thought-through in advance of building
work;

v) No exceptional circumstances exist to allow the development of this site.

5.3 Councillor Jack Dunn has objected on the following grounds:

i) The proposal is an attempt to by-pass the Site Allocation Process and
has no merit.

5.4 Leeds Civic Trust has objected on the following grounds:

i) PAS sites should only be developed when all other allocated land has
been developed;

ii) The proposal fails on the adopted accessibility standards (walking and
cycling) and is not a sustainable form of development

iii) Public transport links are poor;

iv) Good access to public transport is essential to mitigate climate change
by reducing fuel consumption and air pollution associated with
unnecessary trips by private vehicles.

5.5 Spawforths Planning Consultancy has objected on behalf of the owners of
Capitol Park J28 M62 Ltd, making the following points:

i) The Transport Assessment does not consider committed schemes at
Capitol Park;

ii) This omission must be challenged because proper assessment of the
application proposals cannot be undertaken without thorough and robust
assessment of all committed developments. Without this information,
there is no certainty that potential impacts of the proposals will be
robustly assessed and, importantly, that suitable mitigation measures will
be confirmed and delivered;

iii) We note Highways England consider the raw traffic data is out-of-date
and, as such, the assessments have not fully assessed changes in
circumstances on the highway network within the area;

iv) The consequential Noise and Air Quality Assessments have also failed
to robustly assess the environmental impacts of the development

Page 19



proposals, which could arise from transport-related noise, air quality or
related impacts.

v) Date relating to the Noise Assessment is out of date;

vi) The cumulative impact of other nearby housing proposals should be
considered in the Environmental Statement;

vii) Details of the proposed ponds should be from part of this application and
not be left until the Reserve matters stage;

viii) Full levels details are required to fully consider the drainage issues;

ix) Given the scale of development proposed, a phasing plan should be
submitted to ensure that major infrastructure provision and
environmental mitigation is provided in time to meet the needs and
impacts arising out of the development;

x) Further archaeology surveys are required. This view is supported by
West Yorkshire Archaeological Advisory Service.

5.6 A total of 35 individual representations have been received in relation to the
application, together making the following points:

 Inadequate infrastructure and local amenities;

 Proposal is ‘side-stepping’ the plan making process;

 Approval of this application would undermine work undertaken across
Leeds to prepare the LDF;

 Site is isolated and in an unsustainable location, will result in a heavy
reliance on the private car;

 Unsuitable site for housing, will have high levels of noise due to the
proximity with M62;

 Local highway network cannot cope with the traffic of 770 houses;

 Years of disruption caused by building works;

 Proposal erodes the Green Belt which exists between Morley and
Tingley;

 Local health facilities cannot cope with 2000 + new patients;

 Development of this site is premature in the plan-making process;

 Impact on demand local schools;

 Green site sites should not be developed;

 Impact / loss on wildlife;

 People use for the site for horse riding and recreational activities;

 Impact on property prices;
Page 20



 Existing properties situated along Dunningley will be hemmed in by a
modern housing estate;

 The site is occupied by badgers and other protected species.

5.7 61 batch letters of objection have also been received. The points raised in these
objections are highlighted below:

 PAS site should not be developed. Development is premature;

 Local roads are already congested at peak times. An additional 1000
+ traffic movements at peak time will lead to greater congestion;

 Site is not sustainable. Both primary and secondary schools nearby
are full;

 Local health centres are already full and cannot cope with further
patients;

 Site functions as Green Belt between Tingley and Morley and
prevents these communities from merging.

6.0 Consultation responses

Statutory

6.1 Highways: The Transport Assessment submitted by the developer is flawed and
does not include an acceptable assessment of the development impacts. The
Transport Assessment fails to accurately reflect existing conditions experienced
on the local highway network, through the use of aged data. This approach does
fail to properly take account nearby committed development. It also uses
inappropriate trip rates and fails to accurately assess the impact of the proposed
development on the local highway network.

6.2 In addition, no accident analysis is provided within the Transport Assessment. No
road safety audits have been undertaken in respect of the proposed site access
points.

6.3 The appeal site also currently falls notably and unacceptably short of the
Council’s Accessibility Standards. The site is not considered to be sustainable in
transportation terms.

6.4 It is considered that a significant number of future residents would be overly
reliant on the use of the private car. The isolated location of the appeal site is
evident in the limited public transport provision, and surrounding pedestrian/cycle
infrastructure.

6.5 A revised Transport Assessment that suitably reflects an agreed scope is needed
before Highways may fully understand the transport implications of the proposal.
The application should not be approved until such an assessment has been
carried out, submitted and reviewed.

6.6 Highways England: Upon review of the Transport Assessment and Travel Plan
Highways England have identified a number of areas that required further work

Page 21



to fully understand the impact of the development on the Strategic Road Network
(SRN) junctions. An initial holding direction was issued on 17 November 2016. A
further holding direction was issued on 23 March 2017. This places a holding
direction on the application until 31 August 2017.

6.7 Environment Agency: No objections subject to the imposition of conditions
providing for remediation, surface water drainage and details of ground
penetration.

Non-statutory

6.8 West Yorkshire Combined Authority: The accessibility criteria detailed in the
Core Strategy stipulates that new housing developments should be located
within 400 metres of a bus service that offers a 15-minute frequency to a key
destination, namely Leeds, Bradford or Wakefield.

6.9 WYCA have investigated the potential to improve public transport options for the
site by a diversion of Arriva service 117 - which provides an hourly service
between Leeds and Wakefield. In principle, Arriva consider that this may be
achievable within the existing operational workings of the service. Arriva has also
communicated its willingness to explore an opportunity to enhance the frequency
of the service as between the appeal site and Leeds. This would however need
to be funded by the appellant. This is likely to equate to 1 or 2 buses per annum
in the 117 cycle. This would amount to £150k per bus, per annum (gross). Based
upon 5 years funding, this would be a total contribution of £750k to £1.5m.

6.10 The proposed development should also be conditioned to provide funding for bus
shelters with installed real-time passenger information displays. These should be
placed within the appeal site at appropriate positions to reflect the diverted
service. It is suggested that 2 shelters would be required, installed with real-time
information displays at a total cost of £80k.

6.11 To ensure that sustainable transport can prove a realistic alternative to the car,
the developer needs to fund a package of sustainable travel measures. It is
strongly recommended that the developer contributes towards sustainable travel
incentives to encourage the use of public transport and other sustainable travel
modes through a sustainable travel fund. The fund could be used to purchase
discounted MetroCards for all or part of the appeal site. Based upon our current
RMC scheme, there is an option for the developer to purchase (in bulk) heavily
discounted Residential MetroCards (circa 40% discount) as part of a wider
sustainable travel package.

6.12 Other uses could acceptably include personalised travel planning, car club use,
cycle purchase schemes, car sharing promotion, walking / cycling promotion
and/or further infrastructure enhancements that are developed as the
development commences.

6.13 The payment schedule, mechanism and administration of the fund and RMC
scheme would be agreed with LCC and WYCA and detailed in a planning
condition or S106 agreement. The contribution appropriate for the proposed
development would be £370,562.

6.14 TravelWise Team: In accordance with the Travel Plans SPD the Travel Plan
should be included in the invited Section 106 Agreement with the following:

i) Leeds City Council Travel Plan Review fee of £5,870
Page 22



ii) Bus service improvements

iii) Provision of a residential travel plan fund of £370,562.50

6.15 A Full Residential Travel Plan is appropriate for this development at outline
application/approval stage. The Travel Plan should be revised accordingly.

6.16 Contaminated Land: The appeal site has been the subject of a number of
potentially contaminative land uses, the proposed development is sensitive and
the phase 1 desk study report concludes that a phase 2 site investigation is
necessary. As such, the phase 2 site investigation should have been provided in
support of the application. As a minimum, a detailed scope of site investigation
should be agreed with the LPA prior to any permission being granted.

6.17 Coal Authority: No Coal Recovery Report has been submitted in support of the
appeal proposal. However, the Coal Authority acknowledges that the appeal site
lies outside of the defined Development High Risk area and is mindful that the
future market for coal in the UK is declining. No objection.

6.18 Environmental Protection Team: Conditions are recommended to deal with
construction activity delivery hours, Statement of Construction Practice, noise
and dust control.

6.19 Air Quality Management Team: No objection. The air quality assessment
submitted with this application indicates that air quality at this site is not at risk of
falling below the relevant UK standards and air quality objectives are unlikely to
be breached elsewhere as a result of traffic arising from the development. It is
welcoming to see the provision made in the Travel Plan for electric vehicle
charging points for each dwelling with a private parking space and 10% of
communal parking spaces. This level of provision is in accordance with the
Parking Policy SPD and paragraph 35 of the NPPF.

6.20 Flood Risk Management: No objection subject to the imposition of conditions
dealing with surface water drainage, and until feasibility studies have been
conducted with regard to the infiltrations drainage methods.

6.21 Yorkshire Water: No objection, subject to conditions. Yorkshire Water was
involved with the application at the pre-application stage. Conditions relate to
feasibility study, separate systems of drainage and no piped discharge.

6.22 Nature Conservation: A revised Masterplan should be submitted prior to
determination to show “Deanshaw Beck to be reopened in a natural channel and
ecological enhancements to both sides to enhance the Leeds Habitat Network” –
details of the reopened Deanshaw Beck channel and buffer to either side could
then form a Reserve Matters condition. Recommend other conditions which
relate to Biodiversity Protection for Habitats and Species, Biodiversity
Enhancements and Management for Habitats and Species, Biodiversity
Protection (Where non-native invasive species confirmed as present) and
Biodiversity General Enhancements – Bats and birds.

6.23 Public Rights of Way: Public Footpath No.69 Morley runs to the north east of the
appeal site as shown on the attached plan. The development is likely to see an
increase in use by the public of the public footpath no.69 Morley and as such, the
developer should provide an improved (crushed stone/ metalled) surface to a
specification approved by the Public Rights of Way Section.

Page 23



6.24 Public Footpath No.68 Morley appears to go through the centre of the appeal site
situated within the green corridor which should be 4 metres wide, a 2 metres
wide footpath within a metre wide verge at either side of the footpath.

6.25 Public Footpath No.71 Morley is shown to run along its original route from the
south of the appeal site and then alongside the estate road. As long as the
footpath is separated from the estate road until it meets with Public Footpath
No.68, there is no objection. Public Footpath No.65 Morley is shown on the south
western corner of the site and meets the A653 Dewsbury Road. This footpath
needs to remain on its original line and not be narrowed.

6.26 West Yorkshire Archaeology Advisory Service: The appeal site comprises a large
area of agricultural land with archaeological potential. Through the
Environmental Impact Statement the appellant’s agents have identified the site’s
known archaeological potential and recommended archaeological evaluation
(Chapter 9 Archaeology and Cultural heritage p18). The appeal site is known to
include:

i) Possible medieval earthwork remains at Dunningley Hill (West Yorkshire
Historic Environment Record PRN 4535 and a Class III area of
Archaeological Interest). Dunningley was the home of the 16th century
surveyor and cartographer Christopher Saxton. The buildings present at
Dunningley Hill are of 18th century and later date;

ii) The site of a Second World War heavy anti-aircraft battery (PRN 6425 a
Class III area of Archaeological Interest);

iii) Railway lines constructed by the Leeds, Bradford and Halifax Railway
and the Beeston & Batley Railway and Tingley station;

iv) Earthworks of medieval agriculture and possible evidence of tanning
(PRN 4553 and a Class III area of Archaeological Interest).

6.27 Archaeological remains of earlier periods may also be present within the appeal
site but is currently masked by later agricultural regimes and railways. Remains
of the later prehistoric and Roman periods are possible and the suggestion that
Tingley was an early medieval meeting place may indicate that settlement of this
date could be present within the appeal site. A possible meeting site mound has
been suggested to be located, but not confirmed, to the south of the A650 at
Tingley Hall Rise. Artefacts of an appropriate date have been found in this
location (PRNs 4149 and 13874).

6.28 It is recommended that a planning decision be deferred on grounds that the LPA
requires further information in order to reach an informed decision, until the
results of the evaluation have been received and assessed by WYAAS, as your
advisors on archaeological matters. However, if the LPA is minded to grant
permission, we would recommend that the above works are secured by suitable
condition.

6.29 Education: The proposed development would generate demand for 28 places
per year at primary level (equivalent to 1 form of entry), and 15 places for
secondary level (equivalent to 0.5 form of entry). There are four primary schools
that would potentially constitute a reasonable school place offer based on the
walking distance from the appeal site postcode. This includes Blackgates
Primary, Westerton Primary, Middleton Primary and Westwood Primary. Of
these four schools only Blackgates has any spare capacity, with projections

Page 24



indicating that it will have capacity of approximately 4 – 7 places per year.
Demand for secondary school places in South Leeds is expected to outstrip
supply over the coming years. The Cockburn Academy led Free School
application, if approved, would provide an additional 900 school places within the
vicinity, however it is currently unknown when a decision will be made on this.

6.30 Primary School: It is estimated that Blackgates Primary School would be the only
primary within walking distance of the appeal site that could currently
accommodate additional children. Our projections indicate that this school may
only have spare capacity for around 5 or 6 primary age children per year group
until 2020/21, or the estimated demand generated by only 100-150 dwellings, far
below the level required by virtue of the appeal proposed (in primary age terms).

6.31 Secondary School: It is projected that all secondary schools within a 3 mile
radius of the appeal site would be unable to meet the additional demand
generated by the proposed development. If the proposal is approved then CIL
contributions would be required to contribute toward the costs of creating
additional capacity through the expansion of existing schools and/or construction
of new schools.

6.32 The isolated location of the appeal site alongside a busy ring road, roundabout
and the M62, also reinforces the sustainability objection. The location proposed
makes it problematic for Children and Families Services in offering school places
as there is a need to identify and provide for safe walking routes. The provision
of any even arguably adequate walking route between the site and the school
would give rise to an unreasonable walking distance. Consequently, any offer of
a school place would then be rendered unreasonable.

6.33 The site is also unattractive in terms of a new school provision as the capacity of
770 dwellings would yield an estimated 27 children per year group which is less
than a single form of entry whilst, children resident within other local areas may
suffer the same issue with unacceptable safe walking routes.

6.34 The connection at Thorpe Road may provide access to Middleton Primary and
the new Acre Mount Free School, which is scheduled to open in September
2018. Middleton Primary School projections indicate that they will not have
spare capacity for the foreseeable future. There is also a basic need and new
housing related pressure in the Middleton ward. The new Free School may, at
best, offer small capacity but even this will be uncertain before the school opens.
It is anticipated that any offer this Free School may make will be far less than that
required to meet the needs of this site due to the existing demand for additional
places in this area. Schools places have been considered fully in respect of the
highly advanced Site Allocation Plans and delivery of housing at this location
would affect the individual and cumulative assessments therein.

7.0 Relevant Planning Policies

The Development Plan

7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the
application to be determined in accordance with the statutory development plan
(Development Plan) unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Page 25



7.2 The proposed development has been considered in the context of the detailed
policies comprised within the following documents, which together comprise the
Development Plan;

i) The Leeds Core Strategy (Adopted November 2014) (CS);

ii) Saved UDP Policies (2006), included as Appendix 1 of the CS;

iii) The Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (NRWLP, Adopted January
2013).

7.3 The following CS policies are particularly relevant:

 Spatial policy 1 Location of development;

 Spatial policy 6 Housing requirement and allocation of housing land;

 Spatial policy 7 Distribution of housing land and allocations;

 Spatial policy 8 Economic Development Priorities;

 Spatial policy 9 Provision for employment land;

 Spatial policy 10 Green Belt;

 Policy H1 Managed release of sites;

 Policy H2 New housing development on non-allocated sites;

 Policy H3 Density of residential development;

 Policy H4 Housing mix;

 Policy H5 Affordable housing;

 Policy H8 Housing for independent Living;

 Policy P9 Community facilities and other services;

 Policy P10 Design;

 Policy P12 Landscape;

 Policy T1 Transport Management;

 Policy T2 Accessibility requirements and new development;

 Policy G1 Enhancing and extending green infrastructure;

 Policy G4 New Greenspace provision;

 Policy G8 Protection of species and habitats;

 Policy G9 Biodiversity improvements;

 Policy EN2 Sustainable design and construction;

Page 26



 Policy EN5 Managing flood risk;

 Policy ID2 Planning obligations and developer contributions.

7.4 The CS sets out a need for 70,000 new homes up to 2028 and identifies the
main urban area as the prime focus for these homes alongside sustainable
urban extensions and delivery in major and smaller settlements.

7.5 It advises that the provision will include existing undelivered allocations
(paragraph. 4.6.13).

7.6 CS Policy SP7 sets out that the housing target for the Outer South West Housing
Market Characteristic Area is 7,200 units.

Site Allocations Plan (SAP) - Submission Draft

7.7 The Submission Draft/SAP was submitted to the Secretary of State for
Examination on 5 May 2017. The Council anticipate that the Examination
hearing sessions will take place in October and November of this year.

7.8 For the purposes of the approach to be taken to emerging planning policy and
paragraph 216 NPPF, the SAP is considered to be at a highly advanced stage.

7.9 Furthermore, also for the purposes of paragraph 216 NPPF, the policies of the
SAP relevant to housing and employment are considered to disclose a high
degree of consistency with the NPPF.

7.10 Also, the extent to which unresolved objections to these relevant policies fall to
be considered at the Examination, it is not considered that these are of any
particular significance.

7.11 Consequently, it is considered that significant weight can properly be given to
relevant emerging SAP policies.

7.12 The SAP proposes to retain a larger parcel of land within which the application
site sits, as Safeguarded Land under policy HG3-23. The relevant SAP policies
are as follows:

Safeguarded Land

7.13 As directed by Policy SP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy, the SAP needs to
create and/or maintain designations for safeguarded land to provide a pool of
land for housing and employment far beyond the plan period. The justification to
Policy SP10 notes: “Land not appropriate for housing might be needed for
employment allocations or retained as future PAS in the LDF”. Paragraph 2.60 of
the Submission SAP notes that “Policy HG3 designates sites to be protected as
safeguarded land (for both housing and employment)”. Policy HG3 notes that:

Page 27



7.14 Safeguarded land is that which has been removed from the Green Belt to meet
longer term development needs for both housing and employment.

7.15 The SAP has sought to meet the Core Strategy requirement of safeguarded land
equivalent to 6,600 homes (albeit it is observed that safeguarded land could be
released to meet needs for both housing and employment in the long term).

Housing Allocations in Outer South West

7.16 The indicative target for the Outer South West, as set out in the CS, is 7,200
units. The target does not mean that land for 7,200 homes needs to be found as
there are already 2,648 identified homes with planning permission or comprised
within existing allocations.

7.17 The residual target is 4,552 homes.

7.18 In line with Policy H1 of the CS on the managed release of sites, the SAP
allocates 1,120 homes in Phase 1 on 20 sites, 1,396 homes in Phase 2 on 5
sites and 1,805 homes in Phase 3 of the Plan on 9 sites, including a large
allocation HG2-167 for 619 homes at Old Thorpe Lane, Tingley.

7.19 This provides a total supply from allocations of 4,321 homes, which together with
identified homes brings the total SAP allocations to 4,321 homes (marginally
under the indicative CS target, by 231 homes).

7.20 It should also be noted that permission for up to 299 dwellings at Bradford Road
(land off), East Ardsley was granted on appeal by the Secretary of State in
December 2016.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies of relevance are listed, as follows:

 GP5: General planning considerations;

Page 28



 N23/N25: Landscape design and boundary treatment;

 N24: Development proposals abutting the Green Belt;

 N29: Archaeology;

 N34: protected Areas of Search;

 N37: Special Landscape Area (to the north east of the site).

 BD5: Design considerations for new build;

 T7A: Cycle parking.

Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP)

7.21 The Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP) was adopted by Leeds
City Council on 16 January 2013 and is part of the Development Plan. The
NRWLP sets out where land is needed to enable the City to manage resources:
e.g. minerals, energy, waste and water over the next 15 years, and identifies
specific actions which will help use natural resources in a more efficient way.
Policies relating to drainage, land contamination and coal risk and recovery are
relevant.

 Policy General 1 – Sustainable Development;

 Policy Air 1 – Management of Air Quality Through Development;

 Policy Minerals 3 – Mineral Safeguarded Area – Surface Coal;

 Policy Water 1 – Water Efficiency;

 Policy Water 2 – Protection of Water Quality;

 Policy Water 6 – Flood Risk Assessments;

 Policy Water 7 – Surface Water Run Off;

 Policy Land 1 – Contaminated Land;

 Policy Land 2 – Development and Trees.

Supplementary Planning Guidance / Documents:

7.22 Street Design Guide (SPD)

7.23 This document was adopted in August 2009 and includes guidance relating to
highway safety and design.

Sustainable Design and Construction (Building for Tomorrow Today) (SPD)

7.24 This document was adopted in August 2011 and provides guidance on
sustainable construction.

Designing for Community Safety (SPD)

Page 29



7.25 This document was adopted in May 2007 and provides advice on designing out
crime.

Travel Plans (SPD)

7.26 This document was adopted in February 2015 and provides advice on when
Travel Plans are required and how to undertake one.

Public Transport Improvements and Developer Contributions (SPD)

7.27 This document was adopted in January 2008 and advises how development
should be planned in conjunction with public transportation infrastructure
improvements. Although contributions for these have now been superseded by
CIL the guidance retains relevance. The document is presently being revised.

Leeds Parking Policy (SPD)

7.28 This document was adopted in January 2016 and advises on parking standards
for new development.

Neighbourhoods for Living: A Guide for Residential Design for Leeds (SPG)

7.29 This document was adopted in December 2003 and provides advice on creating
well planned and designed developments.

Greenspace Relating to New Housing Development SPG4

7.30 This document was adopted in July 1998 and provides general guidance on the
provision of greenspace in new residential development. Although Core Strategy
policy G4 now covers the amount of greenspace provision within a development
the SPG still contains useful guidance.

S106 Contributions for School Provision SPG11

7.31 This document was adopted in February 2001 and provides guidance on
education contributions. Education contributions are now sought under CIL and
not under Section 106. However the guidance remains of some relevance.

Sustainable Urban Drainage SPG22

7.32 This document was adopted in July 2004 and provides advice on minimising
flood risk and dealing with drainage in new developments. This should be read in
conjunction with Minimum Development Control Standards for Flood Risk, last
updated May 2007.

Greening the Built Edge SPG25

7.33 This document provides advice on the landscape treatment of the edge of
development adjacent to open land.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

7.34 The NPPF compliments the requirement under section 38(6) of the Act that
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policy
guidance in Annex 1 to the NPPF is that due weight should be given to relevant
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF.

Page 30



The closer the policies in the plan to the NPPF policies, the greater the weight
they may be given.

7.35 The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how
these are expected to be applied, only to the extent that it is relevant,
proportionate and necessary.

7.36 The overarching policy of the Framework is the presumption in favour of
sustainable development. There are three dimensions to sustainable
development: economic, social and environmental. The presumption in favour of
sustainable development is the ‘golden thread’ that should run through both plan-
making and decision-taking.

7.37 Paragraph 14 NPPF provides, specifically in the context of decision-taking, that
development proposals that accord with the development plan should be
approved without delay, and where the development plan policies are out of date
etc., planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing
so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole (or specific policies in the
NPPF indicate development should be restricted).

7.38 The approach taken by the LPA to, and application of, paragraph 14 of the

NPPF, is outlined below.

7.39 First, for the purposes of paragraph 14 and decision-taking, it is considered that

the proposed development does not accord with the Development Plan. Indeed,

multiple and significant conflicts arise, as confirmed by the terms of the

suggested reasons for refusal (as stated above). This is therefore not a case in

which planning permission should be approved “without delay”.

7.40 Separately, there is a Development Plan conflict that arises with saved UDP

policy N34 (protected areas of search) which applies to the appeal site.

7.41 It is separately of note that the effect of this safeguarding allocation is purposely

carried through into emerging policy under the SAP.

7.42 Second, for the purposes of decision-taking under paragraph 14, the LPA notes

paragraph 49 of the NPPF which advises that housing applications should be

considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable

development, where relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be

considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-

year supply of deliverable housing sites. Whilst the LPA is unable to

demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the shortfall in

housing land also having duly been taken into account by the LPA), meaning that

any relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered to be

up-to-date for the purposes of paragraph 14, nonetheless the proposed

development does not amount to sustainable development for the purposes of

positively applying the decision-taking presumption under paragraph 14.

7.43 The conclusion that the proposed development does not amount to sustainable

development is had especially with regard to the environmental, economic and

social dimensions of sustainability, as they are defined under paragraph 7 the

Page 31



NPPF, etc. In terms of the economic role, the appeal site is not the appropriate

location for residential development (especially that of such a significant scale)

which will potentially displace general employment uses, which will in turn

meaningfully support economic growth and the local and wider economy.

7.44 Further and in terms of the social role, the residential development of the appeal

site (again, especially on such a significant scale) will not be adequately

accessible or responsive to community (or wider) transport or accessibility

demands.

7.45 Finally in terms of the environmental role, a large area of the site is classed as

good quality agricultural land, the loss of which could potentially harm future food

production roles.

7.46 The LPA of course readily acknowledges that the appeal proposal promotes a

significant quantum of housing and whilst this provision is to be welcomed in and

of itself (as is the case in each housing scheme, especially in the absence of a

five-year housing land supply), when viewed in the context of the proposed

development when taken as a whole and considered on its merits, it is clearly

neither sustainable nor acceptable.

7.47 Third, this is therefore a case in which, ultimately, any grant of permission would

give rise to (conspicuous) adverse impacts that would significantly and

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies of the

NPPF as a whole (and obviously so), applying paragraph 14 of the NPPF.

7.48 Separately, specific policy for the purposes of paragraph 85 of the NPPF

indicates that the proposed (permanent) development should be restricted (and

should not be approved, at the present time).

7.49 In the result therefore, the proposed development is not sustainable in NPPF

terms.

7.50 As such, in terms of the proposed development specifically, no presumption

positively applies in favour of approval.

7.51 These adverse impacts reflect the matters referenced in the suggested reasons

for refusal that are put to the City Plans Panel, together with the significant

conflicts with Development Plan UDP policy, obvious sustainability deficiencies

(considered in the light of the NPPF), and significant conflicts with emerging SAP

policy.

7.52 Fourth, alternatively with regard to paragraph 14 of the NPPF, were the

proposed development considered either not to engage or conflict with, relevant

policies for the supply of housing (such that by operation of paragraph 14 the

decision-taker would not need to turn to decide whether in light of one or more

out-of-date policies the grant of permission would give rise to adverse impacts

that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits etc.), it

fundamentally remains the case that the proposed development is eminently not

sustainable.
Page 32



7.53 Accordingly, the decision-taking presumption under paragraph 14 does not apply

in the particular circumstances to positively favour the appeal proposal.

7.54 Fifth, further and in any event, even were the decision-taking presumption under

paragraph 14 to positively favour the appeal proposal (which it does not), for the

purposes of section 38(6), the LPA nonetheless concludes that this material

consideration would not prove significant enough as to indicate that planning

permission should be granted, given the multiple, conspicuous and very harmful

breaches with the Development Plan and having regard to the objectionable

prematurity of the proposal in PPG terms (see further below).

7.55 As above, this is also a case in which emerging policy under the SAP (which

strategically carries forward the above UDP-secured allocations, and which

further provides for future safeguarded land) means that the proposed

development is objectionably premature.

7.56 The NPPF also identifies 12 core planning principles (paragraph 17), including
that planning should:

i) Proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to
deliver homes;

ii) Seek high quality design and a good standard of amenity for existing and
future occupants;

iii) Conserve and enhance the natural environment;

iv) Encourage the effective use of land by reusing land that has been
previously developed (brownfield land);

v) Promote mixed use developments and encourage multiple benefits from
the use of land in urban areas; and

vi) Actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible use of
public transport, walking and cycling and focus significant development
in locations which are, or can be, made sustainable.

7.57 By paragraph 32 of the NPPF, it is advised that developments that generate
significant amounts of movement should be supported by a Transport Statement
or Transport Assessment, and that decision-taking should properly take account
of whether: (i) the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken
up; and (ii) the residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.

7.58 By paragraph 35 of the NPPF, opportunities for sustainable transport modes
should be exploited. Where practical, priority should be given to pedestrian and
cycle movements and to ensuring access to high quality public transport
services. Where practical, safe and secure layouts should be provided which
minimise conflicts between traffic and cyclists or pedestrians.

7.59 The safety of the road user is also a general consideration which naturally
underpins the promotion of sustainable transport and which must fall to be
considered, for the purposes of Chapter 4 of the NPPF. Safety is expressly
referenced in the NPPF in the context of the support that should be given by
roadside facilities: paragraph 31.

Page 33



7.60 The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built
environment. Section 7 (paragraphs 56-66) provides that good design is a key
aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning and should
contribute positively to making places better for people. It is important that design
is inclusive and of high quality. Key design principles include:

i) Establishing a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to
create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit;

ii) Optimising the potential of the site to accommodate development;

iii) Respond to local character and history;

iv) Reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not
preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;

v) Development to be visually attractive as a result of good architecture and
appropriate landscaping.

7.61 Paragraph 64 states that permission should be refused for development of poor
design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character
and quality of an area and the way it functions.

7.62 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF advises that planning policies and decisions should
encourage the effective use of land by re-using land that has been previously
developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not of high environmental value.
Local planning authorities may continue to consider the case for setting a locally
appropriate target for the use of brownfield land;

7.63 Paragraph 123 of the NPPF and related planning guidance advises in part that
planning decision-taking should avoid noise from giving rise to significant
adverse or, in a given case, acceptably mitigate and reduce what would
otherwise be objectionable adverse impacts on health and/or quality of life as a
result of new development.

7.64 This compliments the guidance contained in the Noise Policy Statement for
England (NPSE) produced by DEFRA in 2010 (referenced at footnote 27 to
paragraph 123 of the NPPF) and the guidance expressed in NPPG Noise
(Paragraph 001; Ref ID 30-001-20140306: Paragraph 012 Reference ID 30-012-
20140306 [Revision date: 6 March 2014]). The further detail of this noise
guidance, as it applies in respect of the proposed development, is not rehearsed
here but will be put before Members.

7.65 Policy at Annex 1 to the NPPF (Implementation) includes paragraph 215 which is
to the effect that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans
according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF. The closer the policies in
the plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight that may be given.
The degree of consistency between relevant, existing policies and the proposed
development has been appropriately considered.

7.66 At paragraph 216 the NPPF also advises on the weight to be given to emerging
plans, which is of relevance to the SAP (of which there is a Submission Draft,
and which is at a very advanced stage following four years of detailed
assessment and consultation, including with local people):

Page 34



7.67 As above, from the day of publication, decision-takers may also give weight to
relevant policies in emerging plans according to:

i) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);

ii) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that
may be given); and

iii) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to
the policies in this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging
plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be
given).

Online Planning Practice Guidance:

7.68 Further to the NPPF, appropriate regard has been had to the PPG, including to

the section advising in respect of the circumstances in which it may be justifiable

to refuse planning permission on the grounds of prematurity (in the present case,

with regard to the SAP).

8.0 Main issues

i) Principle of development

ii) Site Allocations Plan

iii) National Guidance – Five year Supply

iv) Highways and Transportation

v) Noise

vi) Education

vii) Affordable Housing

viii) Ecology

ix) Drainage and flood risk

x) Other matters

xi) Section 106 obligations and CIL

9.0 Appraisal

Principle of development

Site context:

Page 35



9.1 The site is currently allocated as a Protected Area of Search (known as
safeguarded land in the NPPF) through (saved) Policy N34 of the UDP Review.
The release of this PAS site for housing is contrary to Policy N34 of the UDP
Review.

9.2 Development of the PAS site would unacceptably undermine the plan-led system
and be contrary to bullet point 4 of paragraph 85 of the NPPF which states that
“planning permission for the permanent development of safeguarded land should
only be granted following a Local Plan review, which proposes the development”.

9.3 Policy N34 of the UDP states:

N34: WITHIN THOSE AREAS SHOWN ON THE PROPOSALS MAP UNDER THIS
POLICY, DEVELOPMENT WILL BE RESTRICTED TO THAT WHICH IS NECESSARY
FOR THE OPERATION OF EXISTING USES TOGETHER WITH SUCH TEMPORARY
USES AS WOULD NOT PREJUDICE THE POSSIBILITY OF LONG TERM
DEVELOPMENT

14 Tingley Station

9.4 The general extent of Green Belt and the boundaries of the Green Belt around
Leeds were defined with the adoption of the UDP in 2001. These were not
changed in the UDP Review 2006.

9.5 The aim of Policy N34 is to ensure the necessary long-term endurance of the
Green Belt. The definition of its boundaries was accompanied by designation of
Protected Areas of Search (safeguarded land) to provide land for longer-term
development needs.

9.6 Given the emphasis in the UDP on providing for new development within urban
areas it was not envisaged that there will be a need to use any such safeguarded
land during the plan period. However, it is retained both to maintain the
permanence of Green Belt boundaries and to provide some flexibility for the
City’s long-term development for both housing and employment land. The UDP
further sets out in supporting text that the suitability of the protected sites for
development will be comprehensively reviewed as part of the preparation of the
Local Development Framework (Local Plan). Meanwhile, it is intended that no
development should be permitted on the appeal site that would prejudice the
possibility of longer-term development, and any proposals for such development
will be treated as a departure from the Plan.

9.7 The (highly advanced) SAP proposes to retain N34.14 Tingley Station as
Safeguarded Land, under policy HG3-23.

9.8 This follows detailed comparative site assessments, technical evidence base
cumulative and synergistic implications of development and consideration of
consultations undertaken as part of the SAP process. This is in accordance with
Core Strategy Policy SP10 to create and/or maintain designations for
safeguarded land to provide a pool of land for housing and employment for
beyond the plan period. The justification to Policy SP10 notes that “Land not
appropriate for housing might be needed for employment allocations or retained
as future PAS in the LDF”. Paragraph 2.60 of the Submission SAP notes that
“Policy HG3 designates sites to be protected as safeguarded land (for both
housing and employment)”.

Page 36



9.9 The Core Strategy (CS) outlines the Spatial Development Strategy through a
series of strategic policies to promote and deliver development. The strategy
identifies which areas of the District play key roles in delivering development and
ensuring that the distinct character of Leeds is enhanced.

9.10 In considering future development, the unique and distinctive aspects of Leeds
fall to be considered and these features should be preserved and enhanced. It is
considered that the historic pattern of development is key to the delivery of future
growth and will be used to guide future development. This will ensure that the
majority of growth is focused within the Main Urban Area. Other established
settlements will also benefit from new development.

9.11 The delivery of the strategy will entail the use of brownfield and greenfield land
and in exceptional circumstances only (which cannot be met elsewhere), the
selective use of Green Belt land, where this offers the most sustainable option.

9.12 The Settlement Hierarchy is the framework to guide future development
opportunities and is set out in Core Strategy Policy SP1. The hierarchy prioritises
the location of future development within, and adjacent to, urban areas. The
hierarchy acknowledges that there are still development opportunities within
settlements that should be prioritised and enables regeneration opportunities to
be realised, through phasing of land opportunities over the period of the
Strategy.

National Guidance – Five Year Supply

9.13 The NPPF advises that LPAs should identify and update annually a supply of
specific deliverable sites to provide five years’ worth of housing supply against
their housing requirements with an additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and
competition in the market for land. Deliverable sites should be available now, be
in a suitable location and be achievable with a realistic prospect that housing will
be delivered on the site within 5 years. Sites with planning permission should be
considered deliverable until permission expires subject to confidence of delivery.

9.14 The LPA currently lacks a 5 year deliverable supply of housing land, and as
above, under paragraphs 14 and 49 of the NPPF, any relevant policies for the
supply of housing should be considered to be out of date.

9.15 Even in this event however, they remain relevant under the Development Plan
for decision-taking pursuant to section 38(6) of the 2004 Act; it being a matter of
the weight to be attached to these relevant policies.

9.16 It is considered that the reasons for refusal of this application are not outweighed
by the lack of a five year supply of land. Further to the above discussion of
paragraph 14 of the NPPF and the view that the proposed development would
not be sustainable there would be harm to national and local policy from an
approval of this development given its unsuitability for housing. In particular and
significant onsite constraints, including those evidenced from previous planning
applications.

9.17 Therefore, any housing development on the appeal site would be unlikely to
contribute swiftly to housing land supply in any event, and well after the sites
allocated and identified in the HMCA, under the SAP.

9.18 For the purpose of paragraph 216 of the NPPF the SAP is at a very advanced
stage of preparation. It was submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination

Page 37



on 5 May 2017. The expectation is that the Examination in public will take place
in the Autumn 2017 with likely adoption of the SAP in early 2018.

9.19 For the purpose of paragraph 216 of the NPPF also, the relevant policies of the
SAP are considered to disclose a high degree of consistency with the NPPF.

Core Strategy

9.20 When assessing the site against policies contained within the adopted CS and
the NPPF, it is clear that the proposal is contrary to both policy documents. The
site suffers from a complete lack of coherence with the settlement hierarchy as
set out within Strategic Policy 1 of the CS, as the development doesn’t relate to
existing patterns of development. SP1 reads:

“To deliver the spatial development strategy based on the Leeds
settlement hierarchy and to concentrate the majority of new
development within and adjacent to urban areas, taking advantage of
existing services, high levels of accessibility, priorities for urban
regeneration and an appropriate balance of brownfield and greenfield
land, the distribution and scale of development will be in accordance
with the following principles:

i) The largest amount of development will be located in the Main
Urban Area and Major Settlements. Smaller Settlement will
contribute to development needs, with the scale of growth having
regard to the settlement’s size, function and sustainability,

ii) In applying (i) above, the priority for identifying land for
development will be as follows:

 Previously developed land and buildings within the Main Urban
Area/relevant settlement,

 Other suitable infill sites within the Main Urban Area/relevant
settlement,

 Key locations identified as sustainable extensions to the Main
Urban Area/relevant settlement, (inter alia)”

9.21 The proposal is not located within, or as an extension to, the Main Urban Area. It
fails to comply with policy SP1(i) and fails to ensure that housing development is
being delivered to take advantage of existing services (see paragraph 9.48 and
9.132 - 9.134 as regards schools delivery) and high levels of accessibility (see
paragraphs 9.132- 9.134 as regards poor accessibility credentials).

9.22 Not only does the site fail Policy SP1 on a settlement hierarchy basis (criteria (i))
it also fails the more detailed criteria on the priorities for identifying land within or
adjacent to such settlements in that the site is neither previously developed land
nor considered to form an infill within the main urban area.

9.23 This conflict with Policy SP1 was considered as part of the SAP assessments of
the application site HG3-23 and concluded that the sites’ location between three
settlements (Morley, Tingley and Middleton) is one that is isolated by surrounding
Green Belt and motorway and therefore lacks connection to the urban area. This
is contrary to Core Strategy SP1 strategic growth strategy and the SAP

Page 38



recommends continuing the site’s safeguarded land designation to contribute to
a reserve of land with potential for longer term development.

9.24 The remainder of Policy SP1 also sets additional principles for the delivery of
other forms of development, such as employment land and sets out that:

“(v) To promote economic prosperity, job retention and opportunities for growth:

 In existing established locations for industry and warehousing land
and premises;

 In key strategic* locations for job growth including the City Centre and
Aire Valley Urban Eco-Settlement (as shown in the Key Diagram);

 By retaining and identifying a portfolio of employment land in locations
primarily within the urban area, maximising the opportunities that the
existing services and high levels of accessibility provide to attract new
development.”

9.25 The junction of the M62 and A653 (Dewsbury Road) is identified on the CS Key
Diagram as a Strategic Location for Job Growth to reflect the location of the
established business park at Capitol Park and proposed allocations for general
employment to the north. The locality in which the application site sits is
therefore considered to disclose comparatively greater consistency with the
characteristics of this strategic location for job growth than for housing.

9.26 The appeal site therefore offers a unique potential for large scale general
employment land in the longer term because of its location on the M62 junction
and its flat topography (suitable for large scale warehousing or manufacturing).

9.27 These characteristics were recognised by the UDP Review Inspector and remain
relevant.

9.28 The appeal site would in principle satisfy the requirement of CS Policy EC1:
General Employment Land as being a location benefitting from good access to
the motorway network.

Schools Infrastructure Provision

9.29 The provision of schools infrastructure is a key element of the Site Allocations
Plan. This meets the Government’s ambitions as set out in the NPPF. Para 72
states “The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient
choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new
communities. Local planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and
collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will
widen choice in education. They should … give great weight to the need to
create, expand or alter schools”.

9.30 CS Policy SP6 sets the strategic framework for the allocation of housing land for
the plan period. It states that local facilities are key to the determination of what
constitutes a sustainable location:

9.31 Guided by the Settlement Hierarchy, the Council will identify 66,000 dwellings
gross (62,000 net) to achieve the distribution in tables H2 and H3 in Spatial
Policy 7 using the following considerations:

Page 39



9.32 Sustainable locations (which meet standards of public transport accessibility –
see the Well Connected City chapter), supported by existing or access to new
local facilities and services, (including Educational and Health Infrastructure):

i) Core Strategy Policy P9 and its justification in paragraph 5.3.36 and
5.3.37 relate to the provision of new facilities for education. It states that
the Allocations Documents will identify a need for new schools where
developers will be required to reserve land for education facilities.

Education and Training

9.33 An increasing school age population means that Leeds is facing significant
pressure to ensure that basic need is met for statutory education.

9.34 Educational provision is experiencing significant change with the introduction of
Academies and Free Schools. However the duty to ensure all children and young
people have a school place remains the responsibility of the Council.

9.35 New educational facilities will be required to meet increased demand either
through extensions to existing establishments or through the building of new
schools in areas of housing growth or adjacent to them.

9.36 Applicants are required to reserve land for education facilities where this need is
identified in LDF Allocations Documents and contributions will be sought to
deliver these facilities.

9.37 Similar consideration will also be given to community needs for sufficient early
years, childcare, and appropriate youth provision.

Policy P9 Community Facilities and Services

9.38 Access to local community facilities and services, such as education, training,
places of worship, health, sport and recreation and community centres, is
important to the health and wellbeing of a neighbourhood. New community
facilities and services should be accessible by foot, cycling, or by public transport
in the interests of sustainability and health and wellbeing.

9.39 Facilities and services should not adversely impact on residential amenity and
should where possible, and appropriate, be located in centres with other
community uses.

9.40 The scale of the facility or service should be considered in conjunction with the
level of need within the community and its proposed location within the
Settlement Hierarchy.

9.41 Where proposals for development would result in the loss of an existing facility or
service, satisfactory alternative provision should be made elsewhere within the
community if a sufficient level of need is identified.

9.42 The SAP has considered the link between new housing growth and schools
provision. This SAP in most cases either secures schools provision via detailed
site requirements within large scale housing developments or ensures that such
allocations are near to existing provision (which has capacity) or near to new
proposed schools.

9.43 This finds support in the NPPF which states at paragraph 38: “For larger scale
residential developments in particular, planning policies should promote a mix of

Page 40



uses in order to provide opportunities to undertake day-to-day activities including
work on site. Where practical, particularly within large-scale developments, key
facilities such as primary schools and local shops should be located within
walking distance of most properties”.

9.44 From the SAP the following points are relevant:

i) Whilst safeguarded for the plan period the consideration of school place
provision for the plan period and beyond has considered the potential
future role of the safeguarded sites. The SAP Schools Background
Paper notes in para 4.5 that site HG3-23 Tingley Station, “if used in any
future housing allocation would generate additional primary demand
which is unlikely to be met by existing schools due to ongoing basic need
pressures. Therefore should site HG3-23 come forward for development
in the future it would be required to contain a 2FE school to meet the
consequent demand generated”;

ii) Schools provision within the wider HMCA involves the allocation of a site
for a new school at Bradford Road, West Ardsley so as to serve
allocations within and around West and East Ardsley to the south of this
application site;

iii) Alternative more sustainable sites (including HG2-167, Old Thorpe Lane
(land at), Tingley) are reflective of a strategic approach to the allocation
of schools places within the local area. HG2-167 is located adjacent to
an existing primary school and will also make use of the new Bradford
Road school.

NPPF: Further

9.45 It is considered that development in the proposed location would be inconsistent
with paragraph 70 of the NPPF. This provides that planning policies and
decisions “ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing,
economic uses and community facilities and services”.

9.46 The proposed development is also inconsistent with paragraph 38 which seeks
that, where practical “key facilities such as primary schools and local shops
should be located within walking distance of most properties”. Whilst the
application proposal includes a convenience store this doesn’t redress the fact
that residents would have to travel significantly beyond the site to access most
services.

9.47 Using a central point postcode of the site and actual travel distance, the site sits
3 miles away from Morley Town centre and 2 miles to Middleton Park Circus
higher order local centre and 2 miles to East Arsdley lower order local centre.

9.48 In assessing the wider HG3-23 safeguarded site as part of the Site Allocation
Plan, consideration was given to the education needs generated by any future
housing development. Whilst this site is not proposed for housing in the SAP,
Children’s Services considered that should any future housing allocation come
forward the scale of development would generate additional primary demand
which is unlikely to be met by existing schools due to ongoing basic need
pressures and that onsite school provision would be required. In commenting
on this application Children’s Services have highlighted that there are four
schools that would potentially constitute a reasonable school place offer based
on the walking distance from the site postcode provided of WF3 1SJ. The

Page 41



walking distance ranges between 1 and 2 miles. Only one school (Blackgates
Primary School, which is 1 mile from the application site) could currently
accommodate any additional children. Projections indicate that this school may
have spare capacity for around 5 or 6 primary age children per year group until
2020/21, or the estimated demand generated by 100-150 dwellings. This is
significantly short of the 770 proposed by the application. The issue regarding
Education provision is detailed in paragraphs 9.132 – 9.134.

PAS in the UDP Review and Site Allocation Process

9.49 The appeal site lies adjacent to J28 of the M62 and about 4km from J29/42 of
the M62/M1. It is bounded by the A653 Dewsbury Road on the west and on the
east by the A654 Thorpe Lane.

9.50 The appeal site was originally included in the Green Belt in the Morley Local
Plan. It was proposed to be released from the Green Belt for its potentially
unique attributes for employment development in the long term, and was
safeguarded under N34 and N40 of the UDP.

9.51 The matter was re-examined during the UDPR, and this site has remained as a
PAS site in the UDP Review (2006).

9.52 The principle of allocating Tingly Station PAS for residential development was
considered but dismissed during the UDP Review. The Inspector made it clear
that Tingley Station would not be a suitable housing site.

9.53 “In my view the site would not be a suitable one for residential development; it is
greenfield land which is not well integrated with existing communities or
particularly close to local services and facilities…I therefore conclude on this
issue that the site should not be allocated for housing purposes.” (Para 17.88,
UDPR Inspector’s Report, Page 240).

9.54 As part of the SAP process, a detailed assessment was conducted in respect of
sites with housing potentials in Morley/East Ardsley/ West Ardsley area. This
exercise included Tingley Station. Sites were assessed and compared against
their sustainability (see later section on Site Assessment).

9.55 The outcome demonstrates that Tingley Station is a less sustainable location for
housing development. It is not suitable for housing allocation on its own terms
and was considered through the SAP process to be less preferable and
sustainable than alternatives in the HMCA.

9.56 Employment land supply is allocated on a city-wide basis and not on a market
area basis therefore the Outer South West does not have an employment land
target.

9.57 The current Site Allocations Plan and Aire Valley Leeds AAP (including the
Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone) have identified sufficient employment land
supply to meet the overall employment land targets set in the CS.

9.58 In conclusion therefore, the application site was assessed to be unsuitable for
housing in the SAP, was not needed for employment land in this plan period and
performs a role as safeguarded land in line with Policy SP10, the appeal site is
proposed to remain safeguarded, under policy HG3-23 (see SAP Para 3.10.10).

Page 42



9.59 Section 2 of the SAP explains the need to designate sites as safeguarded land to
provide a strategic reserve of land for long-term use post 2028 and protect the
Green Belt, some of which may have employment potential (see Para 2.60 of the
SAP).

9.60 NPPF paragraph 85 defines safeguarded land as land between the urban area
and the Green Belt, identified to meet longer term development needs. This
could include both housing and employment.

9.61 Section 3 Policy HG3 designates sites to be protected as safeguarded land for
both housing and employment.

Site Assessment

9.62 The SAP site assessment for HG3-23 states that:

“The site is designated as a Protected Area of Search (PAS) on the
existing UDP, not within the Green Belt. The site is located between three
settlements (Morley, Tingley and Middleton) and is isolated by the Green
Belt and motorway. This lack of connection to the urban area is the main
constraint. The site is not required to meet the overall housing
requirement over the plan period. There are other more suitable sites
preferred for allocation. The site contributes to a reserve of land with
potential for longer term development.”

9.63 The site sits inside the Green Belt that separates Middleton, Morley and Ardsley.
It is not within or adjacent to the Main Urban Area or the smaller settlements.

9.64 The site assessment highlights the lack of connection to the urban area is a
fundamental constraint in considering this site for development.

9.65 Other sites have been allocated in the SAP in terms of bringing forward housing
in this area, these include, among other sites:

i) HG2-167, Old Thorpe Lane, a 28ha site identified for @619 units under
phase 3. This is a large site that is allocated as Green Belt in the UDP,
but forms a rounding off of the settlement area for Tingley and Ardsley.
It is accessed off Bradford Road, and is close to the services and
facilities provided by both East and West Ardsley and Tingley, including
Blackgates Primary which is across the road.

ii) HG2-171, Westerton Road, East Ardsley, a 8.46 ha site identified for
@189 units under phase 3. Again this is currently Green Belt, and
located adjacent to the southern residential edge of West Ardsley. This
would be close to services located in East and West Ardsley.

iii) HG2-169, Haigh Wood, Ardsley, a 11.66 ha site identified for 262 units
under phase 2. The site lies within the smaller settlement boundary to
the south of Tingley.

iv) HG2-170, Off Haigh Moor Road, a smaller 1.56ha site identified for 41
units under phase 3. Site lies on the very edge of the smaller settlement
to the far south of Tingley and lies between existing housing
development to both north and south. The site is within Green Belt in the
UDP, but forms a natural infill.

Page 43



v) HG2-168, Haigh Wood, Ardsley, a 4.78ha site identified for 108 units
under phase 2. The site lies within the smaller settlement boundary in
the centre of Tingley.

vi) HG2-159, Sissons Farm, Middleton, a 8.19 ha site identified for 222 units
under phase 1. This site is a linear rounding off of the existing
settlement of Middleton.

9.66 These are the closest allocated sites that fall within the Outer South West
Housing Market Characteristic Area, and they all contribute to meeting the
planned housing numbers for the area over the Core Strategy period. Policy H1
of the Core Strategy advises that in the event of a lack of a 5 year housing land
supply sites from latter phases will be brought forward. This consisitant with
paragraph 47 of the NPPF.

9.67 The Outer SW area is expected to contribute 7,200 additional units to the
housing target over the Plan period, with the sites above contributing 1,441 units
approximately. Further to this, outline permission for residential development on
site HG3-24 on land off Bradford Road, East Ardsley and this is now progressing
to Reserved Matters stage.

9.68 Each of the proposed, omission and safeguarded sites in the Site Allocations
Plan has been subject of sustainability appraisal, in line with an up to date
Sustainability Framework (which includes up to date national, sub-regional and
local plans, policies and programmes). Looking at the Sustainability Appraisal
(SA) scores for each of the above sites, HG3-23 discloses one of the worst
comparative scores. It comparatively scores “significant negative effects” in the
following 3 objectives: SA10 (Greenspace); SA11 (Efficient Use of Land); SA22a
(Agricultural Land) and “negative effects” in the following 6 objectives: SA3
(Education); SA4 (Health); SA9 (Community Cohesion); SA12 (Biological and
Geological Diversity); SA18b (Air Pollution) and SA19 (Landscape). Giving a
negative appraisal in 9 out of 27 objectives.

9.69 As an illustration of the relative unsustainability of the site when assessed
against alternatives the SA reveals that of the 6 sites proposed as housing
allocations in the SAP the scores are as follows:

i) HG2-167, Old Thorpe Lane - 5 negative scores

ii) HG2-171, Westerton Road, East Ardsley - 5 negative scores

iii) HG2-169, Haigh Wood, Ardsley - 3 negative scores

iv) HG2-170, Off Haigh Moor Road – 5 negative scores

v) HG2-168, Haigh Wood, Ardsley – 5 negative scores

vi) HG2-159, Sissons Farm, Middleton – 5 negative scores

9.70 The SA, the wider evidence base and site assessment, including comments from
statutory and other consultees helps determine a range of site requirements to
address and mitigate the impacts of housing development upon sustainability
objectives for all the allocated sites; for example: need for new local centres (as
in HG2-167); local highway network (including requirements to fund mitigation
measures and assess cumulative impacts, as in HG2-167); culverts and

Page 44



watercourses, listed buildings, ecology (as in HG2-168) and details of
greenspace (as in HG2-170).

9.71 This headline analysis, above, of the SAP site assessment is provided for
context only and sits squarely with the Council’s view that detailed examination
of choices made through the SAP is a matter for determination through the
examination process.

9.72 As Core Strategy SP1 states:

“The largest amount of development will be located in the Main Urban
Area and Major Settlements. Smaller Settlements will contribute to
development needs, with the scale of growth having regard to the
settlement’s size, function and sustainability,”

9.73 Tingley, East Ardsley and West Ardsley together form two smaller settlements
which will now be connected by the development of site HG3-24. All of the
identified allocated sites above are located within or on the edge of this
settlement boundary where they form natural infill or rounding off sites. The
appeal site is separated from the settlement area by a finger of Green Belt, and
by the M62. It has no physical attachment to the settlement and the only direct
means of access are via Thorpe Lane, or Dewsbury Road which lie at opposing
ends of the site. The appeal site is also distinctly separated from Middleton
(which lies within the Main Urban Area boundary) by a thick wedge of Green
Belt, and from Morley by Dewsbury Road, which is a busy dual carriageway.
The nearest sites to the appeal site are allocated or in use for employment and
industrial purposes to the western side of Dewsbury Road (Capitol Park).

9.74 The appeal site does not therefore constitute a natural extension to any of the
existing settlements that lie nearby, unlike those that are allocated either through
the UDP or the Site Allocations Plan.

9.75 Policy SP6 of the Core Strategy sets out the Authority’s policy for allocating
housing and considers sustainable locations as a key consideration:

“Sustainable locations (which meet standards of public transport
accessibility - see the Well Connected City chapter), supported by existing
or access to new local facilities and services, (including Educational and
Health Infrastructure)”

9.76 In terms of services and facilities, the nearest train station to the appeal site is at
Morley which is 2.2Km away, with the closest bus stop being 0.5Km away on
Dewsbury Road, with buses serving Wakefield on the south bound carriageway,
and Leeds on the north bound carriageway. Other bus stops require a walk to
Tingley, or up Thorpe Lane to Middleton. The nearest primary school, at
Blackgates is 1.23Km from near the centre of the site and this entails having to
walk along the A654 Thorpe Lane which only has a footpath to one side and is
not especially well used by pedestrians. Other services such as those found in
town centres will be further away still, with small local facilities found in Tingley
and Ardsley, and larger facilities (including Asda) in Middleton and Morley.
Neither of these centres would be walkable.

9.77 The appeal site therefore is not sustainably located in relation to access to local
facilities and services including education and health and therefore cannot be
seen to be compliant with policy SP6 of the Core Strategy.

Page 45



9.78 As previously mentioned, the negative scoring of of the site against criteria SA3
(Education) and SA4 (Health) in the SAP Sustainability Appraisal (paragraph
9.68) provides evidence that the site does not have sustainable access to local
facilities and services, (including Educational and Health Infrastructure) and
therefore does not comply with policy SP6.

9.79 Education officers raise concerns that coupled with the inadequate number of
places at local schools, the appeal site’s isolated location (as identified above),
alongside a very busy ring road, roundabout and the M62 implicitly render it
objectionable, not least from a school admissions perspective (i.e. in the
identification and provision of a safe walking route to schools within the
surrounding area, and to the extent that this may be achieved at all, that this will
result in an unreasonable walking distance and unreasonable school place offer).

9.80 Adopted CS Policy SP10 notes: “A review of the Green Belt will need to be
carried out to accommodate the scale of housing and employment growth
identified in Spatial Policy 6 and Spatial Policy 9, as well as an additional
contingency to create new Protected Areas of Search (to replace those in the
UDP which will be allocated for future development)”.

9.81 The justification to this policy states in paragraph 4.8.6 that: “The Leeds Unitary
Development Plan designated land outside of the Green Belt for unidentified
needs in the future; this is known as Protected Areas of Search (PAS). This land
will provide one of the prime sources for housing allocations in the LDF. Which
land is identified by LDF Allocation Documents (and in particular the Site
Allocations Plan) will depend on how well it meets the strategy for housing
distribution, embodied by the criteria in Spatial Policy 6. Land not appropriate for
housing might be needed for employment allocations or retained as future PAS
in the LDF.” Safeguarded land in Leeds is not simply to provide for future
housing needs.

9.82 It is considered there some safeguarded site will be more suitable for
employment land.

9.83 The matter of the Tingley Station PAS site was examined at the UDP Review.
The Inspector was then satisfied that Leeds: “has an adequate supply and
choice of employment sites” (Para 17.58 UDPR Inspector Report Page 234, and
also Para 17.89, Page 240).

9.84 Allocation of this site for employment would divert attention away from the Aire
Valley Leeds employment development and regeneration (Para 17.89, Page
240).

9.85 Whilst the Inspector disagreed that Tingley Station would be required to provide
B2 and B8 as a matter of urgency during the UDPR plan period, he also stated
that “it would be premature … to delete PAS land which has been found to have
potentially unique attributes for employment development in the long-term.” (Para
17.60, Page 235).

9.86 The Inspector specifically acknowledged the potential of this site for large scale
B2/8 employment. In Para 17.55, he states: “there is a preference and latent
demand for employment land in locations along the M62 and M1 corridors and
indeed other locations close to the motorway network. This has probably led to
industry gravitating to areas such as Wakefield, Normanton and Huddersfield
and to parts of South Yorkshire.” (Page 234).

Page 46



9.87 The Inspector also looked at several unique aspects of this site in comparison
with AVL in terms of location, size, infrastructure, and also the possible
contribution of this site to the Leeds economy in comparisons with Manchester in
terms of premises, space and take up of large employment sites. He however
concluded that, without the result of a comprehensive Regional Employment
Land Survey (RELS) and further analysis of employment land, there was
insufficient basis to either allocate it for employment, or to conclude that it would
not be required in the long-term for employment use (Para 17.58). In his view,
this site should be considered in a proper regional assessment of employment
land and involve other planning authorities in the strategic decision, which should
then inform the future Core Strategy and the LDF documents. (Para 17.59)

9.88 At paragraph 17.64, the Inspector specifies the suitability of this site for
employment over housing: “The site is the only PAS site which has previously
been considered for employment purposes and whilst PAS land may be
considered for any use if required in the long-term, its history, character and
location indicate its suitability for that purpose rather than for housing” (page
235).

Prematurity

9.89 The LPA considers that the appeal proposal should be properly viewed as
substantial and overwhelming in its scale. It is wholly inconsistent with the SAP.

9.90 The SAP process is the correct method for determining the relative merits of all
sites considered for development. The appeal site (HG3-23) has been
considered through that process and it has been determined that there are more
sustainable alternatives to meeting the housing requirement in the Outer South
West Housing Market Characteristic Area for the plan period.

9.91 It is considered, in line with the advice of the NPPF that the Plan led system is
the most appropriate mechanism for determining whether residential
development of this scale should be supported on the appeal site. The SAP
considers a range of sites to distribute sustainable allocations in line with CS
levels of development.

9.92 The SAP provides for a range of suitable, available and achievable sites for the
plan period and does not need to rely on the application site.

9.93 It is the LPA’s view that given the scale of development on this site (over 700
units), granting permission to the proposal would have an unacceptable
prejudicial impact in terms of the SAP. The site represents more than 18% of the
overall target for the Outer South West HMCA and an approval of the proposed
development would prejudice not only the appeal site but in addition, sites for
allocation across the whole area, prejudicing the very significant progress
underlying the SAP.

9.94 Properly applied, the Planning Practice Guidance advises against this specific
development proposal:

“…arguments that an application is premature are unlikely to justify a
refusal of planning permission other than where it is clear that the adverse
impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, taking the policies in the Framework and any other
material considerations into account. Such circumstances are likely, but
not exclusively, to be limited to situations where both:

Page 47



 the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative effect
would be so significant, that to grant permission would undermine the
plan-making process by predetermining decisions about the scale,
location or phasing of new development that are central to an
emerging Local Plan or Neighbourhood Planning; and

 the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally part
of the development plan for the area.”

Policy Conclusions

9.95 When balanced against the Development Plan and the NPPF it is considered
that development in this location would not constitute sustainable development.

9.96 The proposal is contrary to the Settlement Hierarchy within the CS.

9.97 The proposal is out of keeping with strategic principles as set out in NPPF and
CS but that also, on its own terms, is not sustainable due to insufficient local
access and key facilities.

9.98 Furthermore, it is considered that by prejudicing the SAP and by introducing
unsustainable qualities, the adverse impacts of the development would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of additional housing
delivery.

9.99 Separately, specific policy for the purposes of paragraph 85 of the NPPF
indicates that the proposed (permanent) development should be restricted (and
should not be approved, at the present time).

9.100 In consideration of paragraph 14 of the NPPF, planning permission should be
refused.

Highways and Transportation

9.101 The proposal is to serve the 770 dwellings from two access points. The wider
PAS could accommodate further housing as indicated on the applicant’s Site
Masterplan. A signal controlled access from A654 Thorpe Lane east of the site
and a signal controlled access point off A653 Dewsbury Road west of the site
are proposed. The applicant has indicated that discussions are ongoing with
Highways England with regards operational requirements for access/egress at
the existing depot, which is to be retained.

9.102 These negotiations were on-going at the time the appeal was submitted.
Therefore, Highways are unable to assess this proposed access at this point in
time, while discussions with Highways England are on-going. In addition, with
regard to the deliverability of the access off A653 Dewsbury Road is not clear if
this can be achieved as it involves the operational land of the adjacent Highways
England depot and there is no certainty this land can be acquired, and many
aspects of the submitted Transport Assessment are not agreed.

9.103 The applicants are attempting to resolve the outstanding highways issues both
with Highways Officers and Highways England on the new parallel planning
application. It is understood that Highways England have no objections in
principle to the use of their operational land subject to an acceptable access

Page 48



arrangement to their depot and a commercial agreement relating to the required
land. The appellant has indicated they are confident all outstanding highway
issues will be resolved by the time of the Inquiry in November 2017. However
until a revised Transport Assessment and supporting access information is
received and assessed, the appealed scheme is considered to be unacceptable
on highway grounds. This is reflected in the outstanding holding direction issued
by Highways England, which is currently in place until August 2017.

Putative Reason for Refusal 6: Impact Assessment and outstanding issues and
areas of concern

9.104 The surrounding highway network to the site forms part of the local strategic
network and Highway England Strategic Road Network (SRN). To the south of
the site is the M62 motorway and the A650 Bradford Road. To the west of the
site is A653 Dewsbury Road and to the east of the site is the A654 Thorpe Lane.

9.105 Access to the site is taken from the A653 and A654. Many junctions which are
considered critical to the highway network of Leeds surround the site or are
within the study area of the site.

9.106 A key issue arising under putative reason for refusal 6 is the potential inability of
the local highway network to accommodate both the number and nature of trips
that would likely arise from the proposed development. This concern relates to
the impact that additional traffic would have at the A653 Dewsbury Road site
access, the interaction of this site access with M62 Junction 28 (Tingley
Roundabout), the impact at Tingley Roundabout, and numerous other junctions
on the strategic highway network.

9.107 The proposal fails to demonstrate that the local highway infrastructure, including
the wider network, which will be affected by additional traffic as a result of the
proposal, is capable of satisfactorily absorbing the significant additional
pressures which will be placed upon it by the corresponding increase in traffic,
and separately, of safely accommodating the increase in vehicle movements
likely to be generated by the proposal.

9.108 It is considered that the submitted Transport Assessment is inadequate, for the
following reasons

• The TA identifies the traffic data that has been used for the assessment.
Some of this data cannot be accepted as it is too old and therefore
potentially inaccurate for the purpose of assessing traffic impacts. The
use of this data is therefore not acceptable on this strategic part of the
highway network.

• Approved development at the Capitol Park site to the west of the
development site should be considered as committed development in the
assessment scenarios. This has not been carried out and will affect the
results of junction assessments.

• The Trip Rates adopted by the developer are not accepted. The Average
Person Trip rates from the industry standard TRICS database were
obtained to estimate the trip generation for the proposed development.
The lower layer super output area data has been utilised, the mode share
for the area used (Leeds 107B) is not considered representative of the
proposed development. This will potentially underestimate the traffic
impact of the development.

Page 49



• Further information is required on the trip distribution and assignment as
this may lead to inaccurate assumptions on how traffic will route to and
from the site.

• The Transport Assessment assumes that no background traffic growth will
occur which is not acceptable on this strategic part of the highway network
in this outer area of Leeds. By not including background growth the future
performance of highway network may be inaccurate.

• The submitted Transport Assessment does not include any accident
analysis of the surrounding highway network that would be affected by the
proposal.

• The highway authority has concerns regarding the design of the proposed
highway works as they have not been subjected to a road safety audit . As
is standard practice, the highway authority has requested independent
road safety audits of the access points and any mitigation proposals.

• Pedestrian and cycling infrastructure surrounding the site is
limited/substandard, unattractive and unsafe. An accessibility audit of key
routes has been requested including across Junction 28 of the M62
motorway (Tingley Roundabout). Existing uncontrolled crossing points at
the M62 slip roads are not considered safe for the expected impact and
use that the site would bring about.

• Stage 1 Safety Audits are required for the proposed site access points and
other modifications found to be necessary to support the development.
The site access proposals and wider pedestrian routes proposed to date
by the appellant are not considered to be acceptable as, together, they fail
to provide or demonstrate a safe access solution to the site.

• The applicant has undertaken site access and junction assessments on
the surrounding highway network. However, for the reasons outlined
above the impact of the development has not been adequately assessed
both on the local strategic roads/junctions and Highways England’s
Strategic Road network (SRN). The results of the developer’s Transport
Assessment are therefore not accepted and cannot be relied upon for
assessing the impact of the planning application.

9.109 Due to the reasons above, the Local Planning Authority considers that the
applicant has so far failed to demonstrate that the local highway infrastructure,
including the proposed site access off A653 Dewsbury Road and off A654
Thorpe Lane, and the wider strategic highway network which will be affected by
additional traffic as a result of this development, is capable of safely
accommodating the proposed development and absorbing the additional
pressures placed on it by the increase in traffic, cycle and pedestrian movements
which will be brought about by the proposed development. The proposal is
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy T2 of the Core Strategy, Policy GP5
of the adopted UDP Review and the sustainable transport guidance contained in
the NPPF which combined requires development not to create or materially add
to problems of safety, environment or efficiency on the highway network.

9.110 The Highway Authority and Highways England are working with the developer’s
highway consultant to try to resolve the above issues through the new planning
application and the submission of a revised Transport Assessment.

Page 50



Putative Reason for Refusal 3: Accessibility Outstanding Issues and areas of
concern

9.111 Insufficient information has been submitted with the application to demonstrate
that an acceptable level of accessibility, with regard to the scale of development
proposed. In the absence of such information and measures, as may be
secured, there is a serious concern that future residents will be overly reliant on
the private car, contrary to development plan policy and the NPPF.

9.112 It is noted that the location of the site and the nature of the existing public
transport infrastructure is such that the site falls significantly short of the Core
Strategy accessibility standards.

9.113 It is therefore for the appellant to demonstrate that they can make the
development sustainable. The accessibility standards for residential
development serving 5 or more dwellings are set out in the Core Strategy. These
standards apply across the whole of the Leeds District.

Public Transport

9.114 The Core Strategy Accessibility Standards and Public Transport SPD requires
the maximum walking distance to a bus stop not to exceed 400m; and to a rail
stop not to exceed 800m. As it stands the majority of the site lies outside the
recommended walking distance to a bus stop with acceptable service frequency.

9.115 The Core Strategy Accessibility Standards and Public Transport SPD requires
the maximum walking distance to a bus stop not to exceed 400m; and to a rail
stop not to exceed 800m. As it stands the majority of the site lies outside the
recommended walking distance to a bus stop with acceptable service frequency.

9.116 The nearest rail stop to the site is at Morley, but this is well beyond an
acceptable walk distance. There are no bus stops on A654 Thorpe Lane that are
within an acceptable walk of the site. The nearest bus stops to the site are
located on A653 Dewsbury Road in both directions offering a 15 minute
frequency to Leeds in the northbound direction and a 60 minute frequency to
Wakefield Westgate rail station and Wakefield bus station in the southbound
direction. The reduced bus frequency in the southbound direction is because the
more frequent services in the northbound direction are unable to access the
southbound bus stop. The applicant proposes to install a bus gate at A653
Dewsbury Road which will enable all buses to call at the southbound bus stop.
This needs to be investigated further to provide better bus priority through the
new junction arrangement in both directions.

9.117 To improve the accessibility of the site it is proposed to divert an existing bus
service (117) through the site. However, the bus service is an hourly service to
Leeds and Wakefield and therefore the proposed bus improvement still does not
result in acceptable accessibility standards for this site. West Yorkshire
Combined Authority (WYCA) has had initial discussions with the bus operator
with regards improvement to the existing bus frequency for the service proposed
for diversion. WYCA indicates that it would cost up to £1.5m for a 30 minute
service over a 5 year period. At this point in time, there is no firm commitment
from the appellants to deliver these Public Transport improvements, and no draft
S106 which includes improvements to Public Transport provision and the
resulting service would still fall short of the Accessibility Standards. Officers are
uncertain as to whether concerns regarding the accessibility and sustainability
credentials of the site can be fully overcome due to the site’s isolated location.

Page 51



Walking/Cycling

9.118 In terms of wider accessibility issues, due to the size of the site not all of the
dwellings are within an acceptable walk of existing Local Services. However, it is
noted that the application includes for a convenience store. An audit of
pedestrian and cycle routes has been requested between the site and
Blackgates Primary School, Woodkirk Academy and the White Rose Centre. A
safe route across Tingley Interchange needs to be created to ensure there would
be a safe route between the site and Woodkirk Academy.

9.119 It is considered that existing pedestrian infrastructure serving the appeal site is
limited and/or unattractive and that the appeal proposal would be likely to
unacceptably increase reliance on the car.

9.120 The Highway Authority and Highways England are working with the developer’s
highway consultant to try to resolve the above issues and understand what is
actually proposed to be delivered through the new planning application to
improve the accessibility/sustainability of the site.

Travel Plan

9.121 The application was supported by a Travel Plan. The Travel Wise reviewed this

document, and stated the Travel Plan should be amended to include the

following.

 Leeds City Council Travel Plan Review fee of £5850

 Improvements to bus services, including provision of bus gate on Dewsbury

Road

 Provision of a residential travel plan fund of £370,562.50

 Walking distances should be measured from the centre of the site. The

walking routes to the schools need further consideration to make sure they

are safe.

 Only the 117 and 217 bus services serve the southbound bus stop on

Dewsbury Road (bus stop number 45011332). A bus gate is needed at this

location to ensure that the frequent bus services use the stop (202/203).

9.122 In addition to the comments made by the Travel Plan team, Highways England

similar comments on the Travel Plan who raise similar concerns.

9.123 Despite the provision of a Travel Plan the site currently falls significantly short of

the Core Strategy Accessibility Standard and the Travel Plan is not considered to

remedy this situation. The appeal site is not considered to be sustainable,

resulting in a high reliance on the use of the private car.

9.124 For the above reasons it is considered that the proposed development will be

contrary to policies SP1, T2 and H2 of the Core Strategy and policy and GP5 of

the adopted UDP Review in addition to the NPPF.

Page 52



Noise

9.125 The appeal site lies directly adjacent to the M62 on its southern boundary and

also adjacent to the A653 on the western boundary. These are sources of

considerable, constant noise. Further to these noise sources, noise emanates

from the Highways Agency depot that is sited adjacent to the access off the

A653 and which operates on a 24 hour, 7 day a week basis (which provides a

base from which motorway maintenance is carried out, including operations such

as gritting and re-fuelling).

9.126 A road noise survey was carried out with monitoring locations at a number of

points around the western and southern boundaries of the site. The baseline

noise level measurements were undertaken in September 2012 and May 2014.

This demonstrated that during the day time noise levels on all surrounding roads

(M62/A653 and Thorpe Lane) was above 72 decibels. A part of the appeal site

along the southern section had noise levels of 63 – 72 decibels. The majority of

the appeal site recorded noise levels of 55 – 63 decibels. The only part of the site

where noise was at a level of less than 55 decibels was a very section part of the

northern boundary (albeit no monitoring was undertaken there).

9.127 During the night-time period there was shown to be no real discernible change in

the noise levels; road noise dropped to more than 66 decibels, with the southern

section registering 57 – 66 decibels, whilst the majority of the appeal site

registered 45 – 57 decibels.

9.128 The Noise Report refers to (cancelled) PPG24 on Noise (but, it is noted, not in

extant planning policy and guidance on noise, etc.) which categorises noise

arising from road traffic, as follows:

 Category A – (<55 dB day, <45 dB night) – noise need not be a

determining factor in granting planning permission.

 Category B – (55-63 dB day, 45 – 57 dB night) – noise should be taken

into account and where appropriate conditions imposed to ensure an

adequate level of protection.

 Category C – (63-72 dB day, 57-66 dB night) – planning permission for

housing should not normally be granted. Where it is considered that

planning permission should be given, for example because there are no

alternative quieter sites available, conditions should be imposed to ensure

a commensurate level of protection against noise.

 Category D – (>72 dB day, >66 dB night) – planning permission for

housing should be refused.

9.129 Under these categories the noise recordings indicate that the area adjacent to the

roads falls within Category C, with the majority of the site falling within Category B.

Noise was noted to come mainly from road sources, but there was also low level

noise associated with the Highways England Depot, from Springfield Garden

Page 53



Centre and from domestic and farm activities around the site. There was also a

low level of noise from a generator room on the eastern side of the HE Depot.

9.130 Potential mitigation has been scoped to include the use of noise barriers (including

earth bunds and fences). The use of 4 or 5m high barriers would reduce some

noise, however would still result in noise levels over 50 dB at nightie in first floor

areas.

9.131 Additional mitigation would also be required, and the Report notes that this could

include the layout of the houses themselves, screening of rear garden areas by

houses, use of additional acoustic barriers, glazing specifications and ventilation

measures. It is considered that these issues could be addressed through the

detailed design of the scheme at the Reserve Matters stage.

Education

9.132 As stated in paragraphs 9.48 and 9.132-9.134, there is not at present capacity

within local schools to accommodate the education demand generated by a

housing development of 770 dwellings. Blackgates and Westerton Primary schools

are both within reasonable distance of the site, however Education have stated it is

anticipated an increase in future Reception class cohorts in future years which

means only Blackgates Primary is likely to have any spare capacity to absorb some

housing generated demand (approx. 7 places per year group or 200 dwellings until

2021). However, there may be some scope to expand Blackgates Primary if

required (subject to feasibility assessment and the outcome of a statutory

consultation process).

9.133 The nearby SAP site HG5-8 is wholly allocated for school use and if brought

forward would deliver a 2 form entry free school, alongside a 1 form expansion at

Blackgates Primary School, which could provide sufficient places in the area to

meet all future the anticipated SAP demand in the Ardsley/ Tingley area including

estimated demand from the Tingley Station site. However, the Tingley Station sites

isolated location alongside a busy ring road, roundabout and the M62 makes it

potentially problematic from a school admissions perspective, i.e. identifying a safe

walking route to schools within the surrounding area, if it is possible to do so, this

may result in an unreasonable walking distance and therefore an unreasonable

school place offer. Tingley station also makes an unattractive option for the location

of new school provision as a capacity of 770 dwellings would yield an estimated 27

children per year group (less than a single form of entry) and would potentially

suffer from the same safe walking route issues in reverse as it would need to pull in

additional pupils from outside of the development to make a new school viable.

9.134 If the Tingley Station site was to be adequately connected at Thorpe Road, by

pedestrians links (which is dependent on the exact layout to be determined at the

Reserve Matters stage), Middleton Primary school and the new Acre Mount Free

School (scheduled to open Sept 2018) may be within a reasonable distance of the

development. Although Middleton Primary school projections indicate that they will

Page 54



not have any spare capacity for the foreseeable future - there is also basic need

and new housing related pressure in Middleton - the new Free school may offer a

small amount of spare capacity in the area. However, at this point in time it cannot

yet be accurately estimated how much capacity would be available, until the school

has opened. Education have stated it is anticipated any spare capacity would be

far less than required to meet the needs of this site due to the existing demand for

additional places in this area. However the statutory duty to provide education

places lies with the Local Authority, not the developer, and as such, the application

cannot be refused due to a lack of school places. The purpose of CIL is to ensure

there are adequate funds to provide education provision for new developments.

Affordable Housing

9.135 Core Strategy policy H5 identifies the affordable housing policy requirements. The

site lies within Affordable Housing Zone 2 on Map 12 of the Core Strategy. The

affordable housing requirement is 15% of the total number of units, with 40% for

households on lower quartile earnings and 60% for households on lower decile

earnings.

9.136 It has been indicated that the requirement for 15% of the total number of dwellings

to be affordable will be met by the proposed development. Due to the outline

nature of the application the full details of the affordable provision is not known but

an indicative layout including indicative affordable housing locations are included in

the submission. The quality and mix of the affordable units will be the same as the

open market dwellings. If the application was considered acceptable in all other

respects, this would be secured through a S106 agreement.

Ecology

9.137 The Nature Conservation Officer has raised no objections to the proposal, but has

stated saved UDP policy N39B encourages the reopening of culverted water

courses, and it is not clear from the submitted Masterplan whether the Deanshaw

Beck is to be reopened. As part of the biodiversity enhancements we would expect

this to be done and it is considered to be important to form a north-south green

corridor through the site. This could be conditioned for details to be submitted at

the Reserve Matters stage, if the application was considered acceptable in all other

respects. The Nature Conservation Officers has raised no objection to the

proposal, subject to conditions, which include biodiversity enhancements and

management’s plans.

9.138 It is noted a number of the objections received relate to the loss of wildlife and eco-
systems. The site is not known to have any special ecological value, and has no
special ecological designation. It is not considered that this could constitute a
reason for refusal. As stated above, the Nature Conservation Officer has raised no
objections to the proposal, and the submitted Masterplan shows extensive areas of
on-site green space, and green corridors through the site.

Page 55



Drainage and Flood risk

9.139 The application has been supported by a full Flood Risk and Drainage Assessment.

Engineers in Mains Drainage have stated they are satisfied that the Assessment

adequately demonstrates that the proposed development will not be at significant

risk of flooding and that flooding will not be increased off-site through the use of

Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS). The proposed Masterplan appears

to include sufficient space to accommodate the SuDS, which will be required.

Conditions are recommended which deal which feasibility studies with regard to the

use of infiltration methods, drainage systems and culverts. Yorkshire Water have

raised no objections to the proposal subject to conditions.

Other Matters

9.140 Air Quality: Although no objection has been raised by Council Officers with regard

to air quality, it is noted that cumulative development in the area could result in a

negative impact on air quality, (e.g. housing sites to the south of the M62). A

revised air quality assessment would therefore be needed to account for this if

permission is granted on other sites. For this particular site however the proposal

for electric vehicle charging points will provide a level of mitigation and should be

included in the final design.

9.141 Contamination: The Environment Agency point out that part of the development

lies a above historic landfill and this therefore poses a high risk of pollution to

controlled waters. Developers will need to follow a risk management framework,

and model procedures for dealing with this. A Phase 2 Site survey and subsequent

remediation and validation reports would be required and can be addressed by

conditions.

9.142 Public Rights of Way: A number of PROW affect the site, including no. 69 Morley to

the north east of the site, no. 68 Morley through the middle of the site, No.71 Morley

to south and No. 65 Morley on the south western corner. Some of these will be

directly impact by the proposal, others will see an increase in use as a result,

therefore a scheme of improvements and widening would be required to ensure the

site adequately connects with existing footpaths.

9.143 West Yorkshire Archaeology Advisory Service: the site is known to include possible

medieval earthworks, the site of a second world war heavy anti-aircraft battery,

railway lines and earthworks of medieval agriculture. Remains of later prehistoric

and Roman periods are also possible, along with evidence of early mining. The

proposal would therefore result in the destruction of any remains. WYAAS, as the

Authorities experts in this matter have requested further detailed work and

investigations prior to determination of this application as this may reveal matters of

such importance that the development may be required to be amended/altered to

accommodate. WYAAS recommend conditions as well, but stress that this should
Page 56



be as a last resort. As the investigations can be controlled through condition it is

not considered sufficient to warrant a full refusal reason on the lack of current

information.

Section 106 obligations and CIL

9.144 In the circumstances that the Council were able to determine the application, any

approval would also be subject to several planning obligations to be secured via a

S106 agreement. The S106 Agreement would include the provision and delivery of

affordable housing, housing for independent living, greenspace, travel planning,

public transport enhancements, local facilities, off-site highway works and training

and employment clauses.

10 Conclusion

10.1 The application is considered to be unacceptable due to the reasons set out in this

report. Seven refusal reasons are set out at the head of the report but are

discussed further below:

10.2 RR1 – this sets out that the appeal proposal is contrary to the spatial development

strategy for Leeds which seeks to locate development primarily within the Main

Urban Area and the major settlements. This policy arises from the need to ensure

that new developments are adequately served by sufficient local services and

facilities, with good levels of accessibility. As noted above the appeal site is

physically isolated from both the Main Urban Area of Morley and Middleton, and

from the smaller settlement area of Ardsley and Tingley, and cannot be viewed as

forming any natural extension to or rounding off of one of these settlements. Policy

SP1 does allow for key locations that are identified as sustainable extensions,

however the appeal site is not considered to be one of these, especially given

issues regarding accessibility and the capacity of local infrastructure.

10.3 RR2 – this sets out that the development is in an unsustainable remote location

contrary to paragraph 70 of the NPPF and paragraph 38. These paragraphs are

concerned with accessibility to local services such as schools, community facilities,

shops, health care etc. The existing situation is that local schools would not be able

to cater to the demand that 700 units would provide, particularly at the primary

school level. No proposal has been put forward by the appellant to address this

through the provision of a new school on site. As a result children would be forced

to travel long distances in various directions to access school provision putting a

strain on community cohesion.

10.4 RR3 – Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the site can

meet accessibility criteria set out in the adopted Accessibility Standards of the CS.

Page 57



10.5 RR4 – this sets out that as a Protected Area of Search then the release of the land

would be contrary to policy N34 of the UDP, and would unacceptably undermine the

plan led system.

10.6 RR5 – the proposal is considered to predetermine decisions which relate to the

scale and phasing of new development and the designation of safeguarded land

which is set out in the SAP. As set out above the allocation of housing land has

been carried out in an inclusive manner with the involvement of local communities,

businesses and other interested parties. To utilise this site would over-ride the plan

led system which is based on joint working and cooperation.

10.7 RR6 – sets out the failure of the applicant to demonstrate that the site can be safely

accessed and that it will not have a harmful impact on local highway capacity.

10.8 RR7 – no s106 has been submitted to cover issues of affordable housing,

greenspace, travel planning, local facilities, off-site highway works etc. so

consequently the proposal fails to comply with numerous adopted policies.

10.9 Matters of accessibility, location, infrastructure all indicate that this particular

proposal fails to achieve sustainable development which is the whole purpose of

the planning system (paragraph 6 of the NPPF). The site has not been brought

forward in the SAP for the reasons set out in the appraisal, and consequently the

proposal, if allowed, would be damaging to the local development plan principles

and objectives. This harm is considered to wholly outweigh the benefits of the

proposal in terms of providing housing, even given the current lack of a five year

land supply and consequently cannot be supported.

10.10 Members should note that as part of the appeal process, officers of or on behalf of

the LPA will continue to discuss the development proposal with a view to narrowing

the reasons for refusal. It is likely that the applicant, in preparing for the appeal, will

submit a draft S106 Agreement and this may serve to overcome the concerns

raised in Reason for Refusal 7.

10.11 Members are therefore asked to consider the recommended refusal reasons set out

above, and to agree them for the purposes of contesting the appeal against non-

determination.

Background Papers: Application reference 17/01103/OT

Certificate of Ownership: Signed by applicants.

Page 58



CITY  PLANS PANEL
© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100019567
 PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL °SCALE : 1/7500

16/05981/OT

Page 59



Page 60



Report of the Chief Planning Officer

City Plans Panel

Date: 29th June 2017

Subject: PREAPP/16/00090 & PREAPP/17/00154 Pre-application presentation for the
retrospective demolition of 101-104 Kirkgate, the demolition of 10-11 Crown Court,
and the construction of new residential buildings with ground floor A1 retail/A3
café/restaurant uses, basement car parking and associated public realm at 101-104
Kirkgate and Crown Street Car Park, Leeds.

Applicant: City Fusion Ltd.

RECOMMENDATION: This report is brought to Panel for information. The Developer
will be asked to present the emerging scheme to allow Members to consider and
comment on the proposals.

1.0 Introduction:

1.1 The landowner City Fusion Ltd. and Think Architecture and Design will present the
emerging scheme for the redevelopment of the cleared plots at 101-104 Kirkgate,
the demolition and redevelopment of 10-11 Crown Street and the Crown Street Car
Park site. Members will be asked to comment on the emerging scheme, prior to
the intended submission of a full planning application.

1.2 This pre-application proposal does not include the neighbouring First White Cloth
Hall, which is the subject of separate pre-application discussions, or the other
Kirkgate frontage properties, which are the subject of recent planning applications
for repair, restoration and change of use (see section 5 of this report). The repair
and restoration of the Kirkgate frontage properties are supported by the offer of
grants from the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) Townscape Heritage Initiative (THI).

Electoral Wards Affected:

City and Hunslet

Specific Implications For:

Equality and Diversity

Community Cohesion

Narrowing the Gap

Originator: C. Briggs

Tel: 0113 2224409

Ward Members consultedYes

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



No. 92 Kirkgate (Wapentake) has been restored and brought back into use under
the THI scheme.

2.0 Site and Surroundings:

2.1 Kirkgate is known as Leeds’ oldest street, and the lower part of Kirkgate lies at a
strategically crucial point in the City Centre between Victoria Gate, Kirkgate Market
and the Riverside area. Despite its central location and historic character, it has not
benefited from the recent success of the rest of the City Centre. Kirkgate lies in the
south eastern corner of the large City Centre Conservation Area. The south side of
Kirkgate consists of late 18th century and early 19th century three storey-houses
which have had shopfronts inserted at ground floor. The townscape of the Kirkgate
area contains some of the most architecturally and historically significant buildings
in the city, being the historic core of Leeds and the site of continuous development
since at least the Anglo Saxon period, running from Briggate to the Parish Church.
Kirkgate is flanked by continuous and varied building frontages rising to the west to
later Victorian buildings, which create a sense of enclosure and verticality. This is
accentuated by the narrow width of individual building frontages, reflecting the
medieval layout of crofts along the street. To the rear of the frontage on the south
west side of Kirkgate a large open space has been created by the clearance of
buildings. A car park has been created to the rear, accessible from Crown Street
and by narrow through-passages in a small number of buildings on Kirkgate.

2.2 101-104 Kirkgate is a cleared site located on the south side of Kirkgate, facing the
junction of Kirkgate and New York Street. The site is vacant following the
emergency demolition of 101-102 Kirkgate in 2010, and the recent fire and
subsequent emergency demolition of Hills Furniture at 103-104 Kirkgate.

2.3 Crown Street car park is a rough surfaced long-established use car park to the rear
of the Kirkgate frontage properties, between the railway viaduct, Waterloo House
and Crown Street.

2.4 The site lies within the designated City Centre, the Prime Shopping Quarter, a
Secondary Shopping Frontage, the City Centre Conservation Area, the Lower
Kirkgate Townscape Heritage Initiative and Lower Kirkgate Planning Statement
area, and within the setting of a number of Listed Buildings, including:
- Grade I Corn Exchange
- Grade II* First White Cloth Hall
- Grade II* Waterloo House
- Grade II 3-7 Crown Street
- Grade II 23 Kirkgate
- Grade II Westminster Buildings
- Grade I Kirkgate Market

3.0 Proposal

3.1 The scheme consists of two new buildings with public realm. At 101-104 Kirkgate
and 10-11 Crown Court (at the rear), a part 4, part 5 storey building in red-brick and
vertical metal cladding is proposed, with A3 café/bar at basement level, A1 retail
and A3 café/bar units at ground floor, with flats above. The scheme proposes the
demolition of the existing 10-11 Crown Court.

3.2 The proposal also includes the re-development of the Crown Street car park, with a
new red-brick part 4/5/6/7 storey residential building, with ground floor A1 retail/A3
café/restaurant units.

Page 62



3.3 Across the two buildings, 80 flats are proposed in total, consisting of:
- 6 studio flats ranging between 36sqm and 60sqm
- 26 one-bed flats ranging between 50sqm and 60sqm
- 43 two-bed flats ranging between 60sqm and 70sqm
- 5 three-bed flats 82sqm

3.4 The buildings would be constructed to exceed current Building Regulations by 20%
in terms of carbon emissions. On site low carbon energy usage would be achieved
by air source heat pumps.

3.5 28 car parking spaces including 3 disabled bays are proposed at basement level
below the Crown Street car park building. This basement would also include
provision for 74 cycle parking spaces. The car park would be accessed via Pine
Court (one-way in) and egressed via the Waterloo House access road. Bin storage
would also be located inside the building, accessed from the Waterloo House
access road. All refuse and recycling would be managed by private collection.

4.0 History of Negotiations

4.1 City Fusion presented their pre-application scheme for 101-104 Kirkgate and 10-11
Crown Court at City Plans Panel 7th July 2016. Members made the following
comments:

 The applicant owned several other properties in the area which gave scope for
co-ordinated development.

 First White Cloth Hall – It was acknowledged that the First White Cloth Hall was
critical to the regeneration of the area.

 Reference was made to potential for rebuilding/restoration and it was reported
that discussion had taken place between the owners and the Council regarding
the buildings future.

 Concern regarding a public right of way at the site which was currently cordoned
off (Crown Court)

 Concern regarding the unsightly ventilation flues situated on surrounding
buildings (Crown Court).

 How to maintain the heritage of the area.
 Scope for local employment opportunities.
 Street lighting.
 In response to questions outlined in the report, Members broadly supported the

demolition of 10-11 Crown Court, but had mixed views about the emerging
design and agreed with the principal of a new building on the location of 101-104
Kirkgate.

 With regard to highways and transportation matters, reference was made to
pedestrian access and the need for connectivity.

4.2 City and Hunslet Ward Councillors were consulted by email on 16 June 2016 and
15th June 2017.

5.0 Relevant Planning History
Recent planning activity relates to schemes for the Kirkgate frontage and nearby
sites, including a number of planning application approvals and pre-application
presentations to Members:

Page 63



83-91 Kirkgate 16/07062/FU Change of use to mixed-use flexible retail, food and
drink, office, hotel, residential and non-residential institution (A1, A3, B1A, C1, D1
and C3), and alterations including new shopfronts – application by City Fusion Ltd.
pending consideration at the time of writing.

83 Kirkgate 15/04655/FU a temporary change of use of shop to hostel and art space
was approved 11.09.2015 for two years by East Street Arts. This would be
approved permanently under the 16/07062/FU application.

90 Kirkgate 16/04505/FU Change of use to first floor and second floor from cafe
(A3) to form office (B1), alterations to ground floor cafe including new shop front by
G. Storey – approved, works not commenced at time of writing.

92 Kirkgate - Wapentake (works complete and occupied)
14/02116/FU as amended by 15/05921/FU Change of use from retail (class use A1)
to restaurant/cafe and takeaway (class uses A3 and A5) by Mood Developments

93 Kirkgate 16/00109/FU Change of use from A1 to A3 and A5 use – approved and
works underway by Mood Developments.

94 Kirkgate 13/03853/FU Reinstatement and repairs to the facades of the
commercial property 94 Kirkgate including facade repairs, replacement shopfront,
roof and windows - approved and expired. No works commenced at time of writing.
94 Kirkgate (rear of) 16/00259/FU Boundary wall and railings to rear of tattoo studio
– approved. No works commenced at time of writing.
A revised application has been submitted 17/02396/FU for new shopfront, new
windows to front and rear and new walls and railings to rear by Rushbond PLC
which is pending consideration at the time of writing.

97 Kirkgate 16/07058/FU an application for a change of use to flexible mixed-use
retail, food and drink and offices (A1, A3 and B1), and alterations including new
shop front by City Fusion Ltd. - approved.

98-100 Kirkgate PREAPP/16/00532 Proposal for the repair and restoration of the
First White Cloth Hall, a pre-application presentation has been made to Members at
City Plans Panel 27 October 2016. Discussions are ongoing at the time of writing,
with a planning application expected in 2017.

3-7 Crown Street
14/01175/LI Listed Building application for alterations including demolition of two
storey rear extension, construction of staircase and lift core, and addition of a
terrace and balcony to the ground and first floors by City Fusion Ltd – approved
(expires 15 September 2017).

14/01174/FU Change of use from mixed retail, cafe/restaurant, hot-food take-away
and office use to public house, and flexible retail, financial and professional
services, café/restaurant and hot-food take-away use, with demolition of two storey
rear extension, construction of staircase and lift core and addition of a terrace and
balcony to the ground and first floors by City Fusion Ltd. – approved (expires 15
September 2017).

6.0 Consultations
6.1 LCC Transport Development Services

Highways officers have advised that the proposal is acceptable in principle, subject
to the considerations in section 8 of this report.

Page 64



6.2 LCC Public Rights of Way
A claimed public footpath runs between Kirkgate (adjacent to No. 90) and Waterloo
House. Any diversion will need to be applied for separately to the planning
application process. Pine Court is also a claimed footpath.

6.3 LCC Flood Risk Management
No objection. A drainage scheme (i.e. drainage drawings, summary calculations
and investigations) detailing the surface water drainage works and Sustainable
Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) features will need to be submitted for approval.
The site is classed as a major development therefore a surface water greenfield
discharge rate is applied where possible (5l/s per hectare). Infiltration drainage may
not be appropriate on this site, therefore underground attenuation storage methods
should be investigated to achieve a greenfield discharge rate along with SuDs.

6.4 West Yorkshire Archaeological Advisory Service (WYAAS)
WYAAS would strongly recommend a pre-determination archaeological evaluation is
carried out to establish if archaeological remains relating to Leeds’ medieval origins
survive.

6.5 LCC Conservation Team
The scale, form, materials and architectural features of the proposed new buildings
have potential to enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Area,
and the special character of nearby listed buildings. The applicant will need to
justify the demolition of 101-104 Kirkgate (retrospective) and 10-11 Crown Court.
The applicant should engage in pre-application discussions with Historic England.
Key views of the Crown Street Car Park proposal will need to be tested from the
surrounding area.

7.0 Relevant Planning Policies

7.1 The Development Plan
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the
application to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. Now that the Core Strategy has been
adopted, this can now be given full weight as part of the statutory Development Plan
for Leeds. For the purposes of decision making, the Development Plan for Leeds
currently comprises the following documents:

1. The Leeds Core Strategy (Adopted November 2014)
2. Saved UDP Policies (2006), included as Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy
3. The Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (NRWLP, Adopted January

2013)
4. Any Neighbourhood Plan, once Adopted

These development plan policies are supplemented by supplementary planning
guidance and documents.

The introduction of the NPPF has not changed the legal requirement that
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policy
guidance in Annex 1 to the NPPF is that due weight should be given to relevant
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF.
The closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the
weight they may be given.

Page 65



7.1 Leeds Core Strategy
The Core Strategy sets out strategic level policies and vision to guide the delivery of
development investment decisions and the overall future of the district. The most
relevant policies are set out in the paragraphs below:

Spatial Policy 1 sets out the broad spatial framework for the location and scale of
development. This policy prioritizes the redevelopment of previously developed land
within the Main Urban Area, in a way that respects and enhances the local character
and identity of places and neighbourhoods. New office facilities should be
prioritised in the City Centre, maximising the opportunities that derive from the
existing services and high levels of accessibility.

Spatial Policy 3 seeks to maintain and enhance the role of the City Centre as an
economic driver for the District and City Region by:
• promoting the City Centre’s role as the regional capital of major new office

and culture development
• making the City Centre the main focus for office development in the District
• comprehensively planning the redevelopment and re-use of vacant and

underused sites for mixed use development

Spatial Policy 8 supports a competitive local economy through provision of sufficient
supply of buildings to match employment needs for B Class Uses and developing
the City Centre as the core location for new office employment.

Spatial Policy 9 seeks to provide a minimum of 706,250 sqm of office floorspace in
the District.

Policy CC1 outlines the planned growth within the City Centre for at least 355,000
sqm of office floorspace and 10,200 dwellings. This will be achieved favouring
locations with the best public transport accessibility. All other town centre uses will
be supported within the City Centre boundary provided the use does not negatively
impact on the amenity of neighbouring uses and that the proposal is in accordance
with all other Core Strategy policies.

Policy CC3 states new development will need to provide and improve walking and
cycling routes connecting the City Centre with adjoining neighbourhoods, and
improve connections with the City Centre.
Policy H3 states that housing development should meet or exceed 65 dwellings per
hectare in the City Centre.

Policy H4 states that developments should include an appropriate mix of dwelling
types and sizes to address needs measured over the long term.

Policy H5 identifies affordable housing requirements.

Policy P10 requires new development to be based on a thorough contextual
analysis to provide good design appropriate to its scale and function, delivering high
quality innovative design and enhancing existing landscapes and spaces.
Proposals will be supported which protect and enhance existing historic assets.

Policy P11 states the historic environment will be conserved and enhanced. Where
appropriate the significance of assets, impact of proposals and mitigation measures
will be required to be considered through a Heritage Statement. Innovative and

Page 66



sustainable construction which integrates with and enhances the historic
environment will be encouraged

Policy P12 requires the quality, character and biodiversity of Leeds’ townscapes,
including their historical and cultural significance, to be conserved and enhanced.

Policies T1 and T2 identify transport management and accessibility requirements for
new development.

Policies EN1 and EN2 set out the sustainable construction and on-going
sustainability measures for new development. In this case, BREEAM Excellent and
at least 10% low or zero carbon energy generation on-site is required.

7.2 Leeds Unitary Development Plan Review 2006 (UDPR) Saved Policies
The site lies within the designated City Centre. Saved policies that are relevant to
this scheme are:
GP5 General Planning Considerations
N19 Conservation Area and new buildings
N20 resist removal of features which contribute to the character of a conservation
area
BD2 Design of new buildings
BD4 All mechanical plant
BD5 states that a satisfactory level of amenity for occupants and surroundings
should be provided.
BC7 Building Conservation

An east-west pedestrian route is identified on City Centre Inset Map 2 to link from
Pine Court to Crown Street. Crown Court is also identified on the plan as a
protected pedestrian route.

7.3 Leeds Natural Resources and Waste DPD 2013
The Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan was adopted by Leeds City Council
on 16th January 2013. The Natural Resources and Waste Development Plan
Document (Local Plan) is part of the Local Development Framework. The plan sets
out where land is needed to enable the City to manage resources, e.g. minerals,
energy, waste and water over the next 15 years, and identifies specific actions
which will help use natural resources in a more efficient way. Policies relating to
drainage, air quality, land contamination and coal risk and recovery are relevant.

7.4 Relevant Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance includes:
SPD Building for Tomorrow Today: Sustainable Design and Construction
SPD Street Design Guide
SPG City Centre Urban Design Strategy
SPD Travel Plans
SPD Parking

Lower Kirkgate Planning Statement 2011
The Lower Kirkgate Planning Statement 2011 was adopted by the Council as site
specific informal planning guidance for development management purposes,
following public consultation in 2009 and 2011. The document was used to inform
the successful Townscape Heritage Initiative (THI) bid, and is used to guide
development proposals within the Lower Kirkgate THI area. The following guidance
is relevant for new buildings in the area :

Page 67



The guidance in the Lower Kirkgate Planning Statement states at Page 13 that any
new-build or restoration works at this site should “respect the rhythm and
proportions of the Kirkgate frontage”.

The Lower Kirkgate Planning Statement states that the scale or massing of the
development should not dominate the Kirkgate frontage (paragraph 3.3a), and that
the character of consistent domestic scale, narrow plots, vertical emphasis and
pitched roofs is important. It goes on to state at paragraph 3.3(b) that tall buildings
which break into the horizon of the Kirkgate ridge-line or Corn Exchange parapet
would not be supported. Paragraph 3.3(c) identifies the key views that should be
investigated to support the scheme.

The Planning Statement also states that public access to Crown Court and the rear
of 101-104 Kirkgate should be secured by Section 106 agreement, in order to meet
the public realm and pedestrian connectivity objectives of the Lower Kirkgate
Planning Statement (section 3.4 parts a and b and section 3.5), and the Core
Strategy. This would be the first step in improving connectivity and public realm in
the area.

7.5 Other material considerations
7.5.1 Emerging Site Allocations Plan (SAP)

The site is allocated for mixed use and housing under the emerging draft Site
Allocations Plan site under reference MX2-26(231) for 65 units.

7.5.2 The Leeds Standard and the DCLG Technical Housing Standards
The Leeds Standard sets out the importance of excellent quality housing in
supporting the economic growth ambitions of the Council. The Leeds Standard
sizes closely reflects the Government’s Technical Housing Standards – Nationally
Described Space Standard which seek to promote a good standard of internal
amenity for all housing types and tenures. Whilst neither of these documents has
been adopted as formal planning policy in Leeds given their evidence base in
determining the minimum space requirements they are currently used to inform
decisions on the acceptability of development proposals. The Council has
committed to prepare a Development Plan Document (DPD) which will allow the
national standards to be applied to new housing development in Leeds. This is
programmed to be incorporated within the Core Strategy selective review, with public
consultation taking place later this year.

7.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied, only to the
extent that it is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so. It identifies 12 core
planning principles (para 17) which include that planning should:

 Proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver
homes

 Seek high quality design and a good standard of amenity for existing and
future occupants.

 Conserve and enhance the natural environment
 Encourage the effective use of land by reusing land that has been previously

developed (brownfield land)
 Promote mixed use developments and encourage multiple benefits from the

use of land in urban areas

Page 68



 Actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible use of public
transport, walking and cycling and focus significant development in locations
which are, or can be, made sustainable


Planning should proactively support sustainable economic development and
encourage the effective use of land including the reuse of land that has previously
been developed.

Paragraph 49 states that housing applications should be considered in the context
of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The NPPF states that
local authorities should deliver a wide choice of homes, widen opportunities for
home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities (para
50).

The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment.
Section 7 (paras 56-66) states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to
making places better for people. It is important that design is inclusive and of high
quality. Key principles include:

 Establishing a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to
create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit;

 Optimising the potential of the site to accommodate development;
 Respond to local character and history;
 Reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing

or discouraging appropriate innovation;
 Development to be visually attractive as a result of good architecture and

appropriate landscaping.

Paragraph 64 states that permission should be refused for development of poor
design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and
quality of an area and the way it functions.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) includes policies relating to
heritage assets and states that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should
be given to the asset’s conservation.

Paragraph 17 of NPPF states that “conserve heritage assets in a manner
appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to
the quality of life of this and future generations “.

Section 12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. In particular
paragraph 131: In determining planning applications, local planning authorities
should take account of:
• the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage

assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
• the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to

sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and
• the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local

character and distinctiveness.

In accordance with the NPPF (para 126-141), an assessment of the significance of
the buildings as part of a heritage asset (positive features in the Conservation Area

Page 69



and the setting of Listed Buildings) is required, and an assessment what the
optimum viable use for the site is, based on the option that would do least harm to
the heritage asset. The guidance states that the optimum viable use is not
necessarily the most profitable use for the site.

Paragraph 134 would be relevant in determining an application, namely that:
“where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against
the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.”
Retrospective and proposed demolitions within Conservation Areas would be
subject to Paragraph 134 of the NPPF.

8.0 Key Issues

8.1 Principle of use

8.1.1 In planning policy terms the principle of A1 retail and A3 café and restaurant ground
floor uses with residential above would be acceptable in this location, subject to
detailed planning considerations.

8.2 Impact of the design, scale and layout of the proposed buildings on the
character and appearance of the Conservation Area and the setting of nearby
Listed Buildings

8.2.1 The site is an important element in reinstating the street frontage of Kirkgate, acting
as a transition block between the lower-rise historic street frontages to the east, and
taller Victorian development to the west. The scale, massing, fenestration and
materials have been designed to complement the historical setting. The proposals
provide an interpretation of historical architectural language and features, whilst
making a modern contribution to the streetscape. The Kirkgate elevation of the new
building would feature a vertical emphasis with a clearly defined simple “base,
middle and top” order. It is considered that along the Kirkgate frontage, a modern
scheme resulting in a complementary part 3/part 4 storeys, would be acceptable,
provided that the window proportions and rhythm should follow the surrounding
historic buildings. In terms of external materials, a light red-brick would be supported
in this location as the principle building material. Metal cladding features, would be
acceptable, subject to appropriate detailing and exact details. With regard to roof
detailing and materials, stone or Welsh slate are the predominant roofing material in
the area, and would be an appropriate material for the front roof pitch to Kirkgate.

8.2.2 The development would also offer the opportunity to improve existing links and
create new links to connect Call Lane, Crown Court, Crown Street and Kirkgate
creating attractive public realm to the south of the First White Cloth Hall, as set out
in the Lower Kirkgate Planning Statement. Active frontages to Crown Court and the
new public realm to the rear of 101-104 Kirkgate will be required to animate the
space, make new pedestrian routes feel safe, and enhance the setting of nearby
listed buildings and the conservation area.

8.2.3 In terms of views from the south from Crown Street at the junction of Assembly
Street, it is considered that the rear of the new building would provide an
appropriately scaled and detailed ‘back-drop’ to the Grade I listed Corn Exchange
and the Grade II listed 3-7 Crown Street. The application will need to ensure that
the consideration of building services such as rooftop maintenance rails, air
handling units, chillers and flues are factored into the detailed design, to avoid
punctuating the skyline with insensitive additions to the roof-form.

Page 70



8.2.4 Regarding the proposed demolition of 10-11 Crown Court, these are considered to
be positive buildings within the Conservation Area. As part of their application
submission, under the requirements of the national planning policy guidance and the
NPPF, the applicant will need to demonstrate that the scheme has wider public
benefits, such as environmental improvements. The starting point is therefore the
retention of the existing building, notwithstanding that there is an opportunity to
refurbish and extend in an appropriate manner. Whilst the proposal for the
demolition of 10-11 Crown Court is considered harmful in conservation terms, the
harm is considered to be ‘less than substantial’ to the significance of the designated
heritage asset (the Conservation Area and the setting of Listed Buildings), and
subject to appropriate justification of the quality of the new development and that the
proposal represents the optimum viable use for the site in heritage terms, on
balance, this may be considered acceptable.

Do Members support the demolition of 10-11 Crown Court and replacement
with a modern building?

8.2.5 With regard to 101-104 Kirkgate, the site is currently vacant. Emergency demolition
of 101-102 Kirkgate took place in 2010, caused by the partial collapse of the
building and the west wing of the First White Cloth Hall. Hills Furniture at 103-104
Kirkgate was recently destroyed by fire and the remainder of the structure
demolished for safety reasons. The proposal for redevelopment of these two vacant
plots is not a “like-for-like” replacement of the former buildings. Officers are of the
view that it is not necessary to provide like-for-like replacement buildings. A
contemporary building could enhance the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area and the setting of nearby Listed Buildings, is more likely to be a
viable building for future uses, and be more environmentally sustainable.

Do Members agree the principal of a modern design on the location of 101-104
Kirkgate rather than a like-for-like replacement?

8.2.6 There is a generally consistent emerging height and building line to this part of
Kirkgate. The building proposed for the car park site would step up from 4 storeys
at the western end, to 7 storeys at the eastern end. Key views of the Crown Street
Car Park proposal will need to be tested from the surrounding area, as advised in
the Lower Kirkgate Planning Statement, to ensure that new buildings do not unduly
affect the skyline and the setting of the First White Cloth Hall, the Corn Exchange or
the Kirkgate streetscene as a whole.

Subject to testing of key street views, do Members support the emerging
design of the building proposed on the car park?

8.3 Residential Quality, Mix and Sustainability

8.3.1 The applicant has provided an indicative typical building layout that demonstrates
that the proposed dwellings would be an appropriate size, layout, daylight,
circulation and juxtaposition of living functions. However, some flats facing Crown
Court would feature an L-shaped living room and kitchen, and the applicant will
need to demonstrate that there would be sufficient daylight to the kitchen areas.

8.3.2 It is considered that the indicative layout generally offers satisfactory privacy
relationships and outlook within and around the building. The new buildings have
been designed to avoid overlooking between new flats within the scheme, and those

Page 71



proposed in the current application for change of use to residential at the upper
floors of the existing Kirkgate frontage properties.

8.3.3 The proposal includes some 3-bed units, however it would not be 20% of all flats
proposed as required by Policy H4. The applicant will therefore need to justify their
approach to the proposed indicative mix of dwellings, including the reduced
provision of 3-bed units.

8.3.4 The applicant will need to demonstrate that the proposed flats have been designed
to ensure satisfactory amenity and minimise nuisance from existing road, rail,
external mechanical plant and late night entertainment noise, including noise from
new ground floor premises and mechanical plant within the proposed scheme.

Do Members have any comments on the quality and mix of residential
accommodation proposed?

8.4 Highways and Transportation

8.4.1 Pursuant to Highways officer advice, the applicant has provided further details of
parking and servicing arrangements, and this will be considered and updated
verbally. This includes refuse, servicing and delivery arrangements, including ad-
hoc deliveries and drop-off/pick up. The servicing and delivery arrangements for
101-104 Kirkgate and Crown Street car park should take account of servicing and
delivery options for the Kirkgate frontage properties including the First White Cloth
Hall as indicated in the Lower Kirkgate Planning Statement, so that practical
operational needs to support the wider regeneration of the area are not prejudiced.
The ground floor of 101-104 Kirkgate would be serviced from the existing loading
bay on Kirkgate. Access for servicing of the other units and resident car parking
would be one-way in from Pine Court, and exiting via Crown Street. Pine Court is
not suitable for larger delivery vehicles or refuse vehicles, which would need to be
accommodated on Crown Street or Kirkgate. Secure enclosed long stay staff cycle
parking will be required, as well as short-stay visitor/customer cycle parking within
the public realm. A Travel Plan will be required to cover the range of uses proposed.
It must have robust measures appropriate for a scheme with a low level of car
parking. A Travel Plan monitoring fee would be required, calculated in accordance
with the Travel Plan SPD, and this would be secured by a Section 106 Agreement.

Do Members have any comments on highways and transportation matters,
including the approach to car parking and servicing?

8.5 Planning obligations
8.5.1 Adopted policies are likely to result in the following necessary Section 106 matters:

- Affordable Housing 5% on-site in accordance with the policy for the area. The
scheme is likely be a Private Rented Sector (PRS) model and the applicant would
like to discuss how the obligation will be delivered.
- Sustainable Travel Fund
- Travel plan monitoring fee
- Public access to the spaces between buildings
- Cooperation with local jobs and skills initiatives

9.0 CONCLUSION
Members will be advised of the details of this emerging scheme and are asked to
provide responses to the following:

Page 72



9.1 Do Members support the demolition of 10-11 Crown Court and replacement with a
modern building?

9.2 Do Members agree the principal of a modern design on the location of 101-104
Kirkgate rather than a like-for-like replacement?

9.3 Subject to testing of key street views, do Members support the emerging design of
the building proposed on the car park?

9.4 Do Members have any comments on the quality and mix of accommodation
proposed?

9.5 Do Members have any comments on highways and transportation matters, such as
the approach to car parking and servicing?

Background Papers:
Pre-application files: PREAPP/16/00090 & PREAPP/17/00154

Page 73



CITY  PLANS PANEL
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567
 PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL SCALE : 1/1000

PREAPP/17/00154

PREAPP/16/00090

Page 74



Corn Exchonge

!q

&
o-
Q

I

-

think
orchiteclure design

KirkodLe Môstêrò Õn
G.où1d.oo ì/oìt s¡D sFS

--- 

-17 011lsK)002 1 ?ôôôA1 nt nÂ ?ô17

FOR NFORMATON

/ Firsl white
/ ctoth Holt

Woterloo House

4$ê¿o,
-¿ r.t/fêô/

Note: All dimensions given musl be verified by lhe conlroctor
before monufociure or commencemeni of ony works or

cies lo be reporied io the Arch¡leci.

n
le I :200

insfoilqtions.

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Chief Planning Officer

CITY PLANS PANEL

Date: 29 June 2017

Subject: Preapplication PREAPP/17/00138 for a major planning application relating to
Build to Rent residential development of 8-14 storeys with approximately 300
apartments, a convenience shopping A1 Use Class retail unit, landscaping, parking
and associated works at land off Flax Place and Richmond Street, Leeds, LS9 8HG

Applicant – Doone Silver Kerr Architects

RECOMMENDATION: This report is brought to Plans Panel for information. The
Developer will present the details of the emerging scheme to allow Members to
consider and comment on the proposals at this stage.

1.0 INTRODUCTION:

1.1 This presentation is intended to inform Members at an early stage of the emerging
proposals for a residential scheme on a site near the edge of the designated City
Centre. The proposal is brought to City Plans Panel as the development involves
the re-use of brownfield land and a major investment in a significant site on the East
Street corridor.

2.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

2.1 The site is located within the defined City Centre but is not allocated for a specific
use on the Local Development Framework (LDF) Policies Map. The site lies within
the boundary covered by the emerging Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan
(AVLAAP) which is being prepared in accordance with Core Strategy Spatial Policy
5 and will form part of the LDF when adopted. The draft AVLAAP identifies the site
for housing use under Policy AVL6. This allocation was not subject to a specific
objection following consultation on the draft plan which was subject to Examination

Specific Implications For:

Equality and Diversity

Community Cohesion

Narrowing the Gap

Electoral Wards Affected:

City & Hunslet

Originator: Sarah McMahon

Tel: 0113 222 4409

Ward Members consulted
(referred to in report)

Yes

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



in Public in January 2017 with main modifications consultation ending on 8th June
2017 and can therefore be afforded significant weight.

3.0 PROPOSAL:

3.1 The proposed development seeks to provide a predominantly residential
development across two stepped blocks of 8 to 14 storeys in height housing some
300 apartments. These are currently proposed to be the following mix;
11 studio apartments
147 one bedroomed apartments
130 two bedroomed apartments
12 three bedroomed apartments.

3.2 In addition to the front of the site where it meets East Street and Richmond Street a
convenience shopping A1 Use Class retail unit is also proposed. The landscape
scheme features include public open spaces around the buildings and roof top
terracing for more private resident’s usage. Car and cycle parking is also proposed
with the added opportunity to provide City Car Club space/s within the site.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

4.1 None

5.0 HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:

5.1 The proposals have been the subject of pre-application discussions between the
Developers, their Architects, and Local Authority Officers since February 2017.
These discussions have focused on scale, massing and design, flood risk, cycle and
car parking levels and access, affordable housing and room size standards. The
preapplication presentation is a response to these discussions.

5.2 Ward Members were consulted on 10 May 2017. Councillor Nash responding
querying whether this was a location that could affect or contribute towards a new
train station at site on Marsh Lane.
Response: Highways Transport Policy Team has advised that at present there is no
defined site for such a station, although the location of former facilities (which closed
in 1958) would not be adversely affected by the proposed development. The Leeds
Public Transport Investment Programme includes proposals for three new stations
(Thorpe Park, White Rose and near Leeds Bradford Airport) however the Marsh
Lane station is not yet programmed and as such there is no scheme for the
developer to contribute towards.

6.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES:

6.1 The Development Plan for Leeds currently comprises the following documents:

1. The Leeds Core Strategy (Adopted November 2014)
2. Saved Leeds Unitary Development Plan Policies (Reviewed 2006),
included as Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy
3. The Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (NRWLP, Adopted January
2013) including revised policies Minerals 13 and 14 (Adopted September 2015).
4. Any Neighbourhood Plan, once Adopted

6.2 Leeds Core Strategy

Page 78



6.3 The Core Strategy sets out strategic level policies and vision to guide the delivery of
development investment decisions and the overall future of the district.

6. 4 Spatial Policy 1: Location Of Development states that;
(i) The majority of new development should be concentrated within urban areas
taking advantage of existing services, high levels of accessibility and priorities for
urban regeneration and an appropriate balance of brownfield and greenfield land

6.5 Spatial Policy 5: Aire Valley Leeds Urban Eco-settlement
Aire Valley Leeds (Urban Eco–Settlement) is identified as a strategic location,
providing a minimum of 6,500 new homes, at least 250 hectares of land for
employment uses (including research and development, industrial, and warehouse
development) and new retail services of an appropriate scale.

6.6 Policy CC1: City Centre Development
The City Centre will be planned to accommodate at least the following:
(iii) 10,200 dwellings.
b) Encouraging residential development including new buildings and
changes of use of existing providing that it does not prejudice the town centre.
Addressing where and how much A1 retail is appropriate.

6.7 Policy EN1: Climate Change – Carbon Dioxide Reduction states that all
developments of over 1,000 square metres of floorspace, (including conversion
where feasible) whether new-build or conversion, will be required to:
(i) Reduce total predicted carbon dioxide emissions to achieve 20% less than the
Building Regulations Target Emission Rate until 2016 when all development should
be zero carbon; and,
(ii) Provide a minimum of 10% of the predicted energy needs of the development
from low carbon energy.

6.8 Policy EN2: Sustainable Design and Construction states that to require
developments of 1,000 or more square metres or 10 or more dwellings (including
conversion) where feasible) to meet at least the standard set by BREEAM or Code
for Sustainable Homes. In line with the Government’s recent amendments the
standard is for Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 or equivalent.

6.9 Policy EN5: Managing Flood Risk states that the Council will manage and mitigate
flood risk:
(iii) Requiring flood risk to be considered for all development commensurate with the
scale and impact of the proposed development and mitigated where appropriate.
(iv) Reducing the speed and volume of surface water run-off as part of new build
developments.
(v) Making space for flood water in high flood risk areas.

6.10 Policy G5: Open Space Provision in the City Centre states that within the City
Centre, open space provision will be sought for sites over 0.5 hectares.

6.11 Policy H4: to achieve an appropriate Housing Mix on residential sites, for setting
targets for different dwelling sizes and types as detailed in the table below.
Table H4: Preferred Housing Mix (2012 – 2028)

Page 79



6.12 Policy H5 incorporates Targets and Thresholds for affordable housing. In this case
5% of the total units to be provided on site must be affordable housing.

6.13 Policy P10: Design states that: New development for buildings and spaces, and
alterations to existing, should be based on a thorough contextual analysis to provide
good design appropriate to its scale and function.
New development will be expected to deliver high quality innovative design that has
evolved, where appropriate, through community consultation and which respects
and enhances the variety of existing landscapes, streets, spaces and buildings
according to the particular local distinctiveness and wider setting of the place,
contributing positively towards place making and quality of life and be accessible to
all.

6.14 Policy T1: Transport Management states that support will be given to the following
management priorities:
c) To support wider transport strategy objectives for sustainable travel and to
minimise congestion during peak periods.

6.15 Policy T2: Accessibility Requirements and New Development states that new
development should be located in accessible locations that are adequately served
by existing or programmed highways, by public transport and with safe and secure
access for pedestrians, cyclists and people with impaired mobility:
(i) In locations where development is otherwise considered acceptable new
infrastructure may be required on/off site to ensure that there is adequate provision
for access from the highway network, by public transport and for cyclists,
pedestrians and people with impaired mobility, which will not create or materially
add to problems of safety, environment or efficiency on the highway network.

6.16 Leeds Unitary Development Plan Review 2006 - Retained Policies
Policy ARC6 (Conditions required with regard to preservation of archaeological
details by record)
Policy BD2 (Design and siting of new buildings)
Policy BD5 (All new buildings and amenity)
Policy GP5 (All planning considerations)
Policy LD1 (landscaping schemes)
Policy N23 (Space around new buildings)

6.17 Leeds Natural Resources and Waste DPD 2013 including revised policies
Minerals 13 and 14 (Adopted September 2015).

6.18 The plan sets out where land is needed to enable the City to manage resources, like
minerals, energy, waste and water over the next 15 years, and identifies specific
actions which will help use natural resources in a more efficient way. Policies
regarding land use, energy, coal recovery, drainage, flood risk and waste will be
relevant to this proposal.

Type Max % Min % Target %
Houses 90 50 75
Flats 50 10 25
Size Max % Min % Target %
1 bed 50 0 10
2 bed 80 30 50
3 bed 70 20 30
4 bed+ 50 0 10

Page 80



6.19 Draft Site Allocations Plan

6.20 The draft Site Allocations Plan designates the site as suitable for housing.

6.21 Draft Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (AVLAAP)

6.22 The draft AVLAAP identifies the site for housing use under Policy AVL6. This
allocation is not subject to a specific objection following consultation on the draft
plan and can therefore be afforded significant weight.

6.23 Supplementary Planning Guidance

6.24 Tall Buildings Design Guide (Spring 2010)

6.25 Parking (January 2016)

6.26 Street Design Guide (August 2009)

6.27 Supplementary Planning Document ‘Travel Plans’ (February 2015)

6.28 Other Material Considerations

6.29 DCLG – Technical Housing Standards 2015 – Sets out internal space standards
within new dwellings and is suitable for applications across all tenures. The housing
standards are a material consideration in dealing with planning applications. The
government’s Planning Practice Guidance advises that where a local planning
authority wishes to require an internal space standard it should only do so by
reference in the local plan to the nationally described space standard. With this is
mind the city council is currently developing the Leeds Space Standard. However,
as the Leeds Standard is at an early stage within the local plan process, and is in
the process of moving towards adoption, only limited weight can be attached at this
stage but this may change as the proposals are progressed through the planning
system.

6.30 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

6.31 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 (NPPF) was adopted in March 2012
and sets out the Government's planning policies and how they expect them to be
applied.

6.32 Paragraph 6 of the NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and paragraph 14 goes
on to state that there should be a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

6.33 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF sets out the Core Planning Principles for plan making
and decision taking. The 4th principle listed states that planning should always seek
high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future
occupants of land and buildings.

6.34 The 6th principle listed states that planning should support the transition to a low
carbon future and encourage the use of renewable resources, including the
development of renewable energy.

Page 81



6.35 The 8th principle listed states that planning should encourage the effective use of
land by reusing land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided
that it is not of high environmental value.

6.36 The Government statement on Energy Efficiency in Buildings of 25 March 2015
states that the energy performance requirements in Building Regulations will be set
at a level equivalent to the (outgoing) Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4.

7.0 KEY ISSUES

7.1 Principle of the Use

7.2 The proposal is for a predominantly residential scheme with a small scale
convenience retailing unit (use Class A1) to the street level fronting the East Street,
Richmond Street corner. The surrounding area has had a significant change in
character with a high number of conversions and new built residential schemes
replacing former industrial and commercial uses. The emerging Leeds Aire Valley
Area Action Plan identifies the site as appropriate for housing use. The retail unit
would be convenience shopping only and would be relatively small in scale and
ancillary to the main use of the site as residential. As such Officers consider this mix
of use to be appropriate for this site.

7.3 The developer, Neighbour, is proposing to operate the scheme as a Build to Rent
(BTR) development and as such could provide a significant number of new
residences within the proposed development. The BTR business model differs from
a conventional housebuilding model. The main feature of the financial model is that
it is intended to produce a regular return to an investor (often institutions such as
pension fund holders). It facilitates institutional investment into rental developments
by creating large single investment blocks of “blue chip” quality, introduces
economies of scale and transfers an element of investment risk to a third party
”operator” or managing organisation who takes on the role of landlord to individual
occupier tenants.

7.4 There are a number of variants to BTR, however each is underpinned by a
commercial approach aimed at providing a long-term return to the investor financing
the development whilst giving the managing organisation the flexibility to determine
their lettings policy and exposure to risk. Unlike the traditional build for sale product,
BTR avoids costs associated with sales and marketing focusing instead on longer
term investment return associated with holding the investment rather than initial
development profit. Build to Rent tends towards high density development such as
apartment blocks (typically 150 plus units) to reduce management costs. There is a
requirement for a 5% provision of affordable housing within the development. The
Developer has stated that it is their intention to provide the affordable housing on-
site in the first instance.

7.5 Do Members consider the principles of development to be appropriate?

7.6 Design, Massing, Scale and Layout

7.7 The proposal is divided into two stepped blocks which visually slide away from each
other to allow more windows to be introduced for natural light and views out. The
orientation of the blocks reflects the strong rhythm established in the blocks within
Saxton Gardens to the rear of the site, as well as responding positively to the
alignment of East Street.

Page 82



7.8 Detailed preapplication discussions by the Developers team with Officers have
resulted in an overall reduction in height of the blocks, such that they now relate well
to the topography of the surrounding area and the existing built form upon it.

7.9 Officers consider that the site is a transition, rather than a gateway location which is
in an area with a wide variety of building styles and eras. As such the design reflects
the need for the scheme to sit alongside a broad mix of buildings from differing
architectural periods. Therefore the facades are proposed to have a calm modernist
architecture incorporating cool toned lime brick panels, with large glazed windows
and side vents in a bronze finish, set into deep reveals. The horizontal levels of the
blocks are emphasised by light toned pre-cast concrete spandrels. Variety in the
building elevations is explored through the deep modelling of the facades that
provide interest and gravitas. Officers consider the proposed design, scale and
massing to be appropriate for this site and that it makes a positive contrbution to the
context of the wider area.

7.10 In addition the developer has advised that they will be aiming to meet the DCLG –
Technical Housing Standards within all of the apartments.

7.11 Do Members support the emerging scale, massing and design of the
proposals?

7.12 The Landscape Scheme

7.13 The scheme proposes to layout publicly open areas at ground floor level, with a mix
of hard and soft landscape features. The soft landscaping at this level would focus
on grassed areas, foliage/shrub planting with carefully positioned trees. In addition,
more private roof terrace areas are proposed for use by the residents of the
development. A green roof is proposed to sit above the ground floor level retail unit
which fronts the site.

7.14 What are Members views on the emerging landscape scheme?

7.15 Transport and Access

7.16 The proposal site is within walking distance of the City Centre and transport links
within it. As such the proposal will aim to promote sustainable transport and
therefore provides only 90 residents and 5 visitor basement/undercroft car parking
spaces as well as 4 spaces for the retail unit. These would be accessed from Flax
Place. The spaces would be at basement/undercroft level due to the need to the site
being elevated from the street level of East Street. In addition electric vehicle charge
points will be provided at a ratio of 1:10 car parking spaces. Some 30 motorcycle
parking spaces are also to be provided as well cycle parking spaces which will be
provided at a ratio of 1 space per apartment (300).

7.17 Do Members consider the approach to car and cycle parking provision and
arrangement to be acceptable?

7.18 Do Members have any other comments at this stage on the proposals?

8.0 CONCLUSION

8.1 The key questions asked in the report above are as following:

7.5 Do Members consider the principles of development to be appropriate?
Page 83



7.11 Do Members support the emerging scale, massing and design of the
proposals?

7.14 What are Members views on the emerging landscape scheme?

7.17 Do Members consider the approach to car and cycle parking provision and
arrangement to be acceptable?

7.18 Do Members have any other comments at this stage on the proposals?

Background Papers:
PREAPP/17/00138

Page 84



CITY  PLANS PANEL
© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100019567
 PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL °SCALE : 1/1500

PREAPP/17/00138

Page 85









P
age 86


	Agenda
	 Site Visit Letter
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	8 Application No. 16/05981/OT - Outline application (all matters reserved except for partial means of access to, but not within the Site) for residential development up to 770 dwellings and convenience store together with creation of new areas of public open space and drainage attenuation works to land at Dunningley Lane, Tingley, WF3 1SJ.
	9 PREAPP/16/00090 - Pre - Application Presentation for Retrospective demolition of 101-104 Kirkgate, the demolition of 10-11 Crown Court, and the construction of a new mixed-use building at 101 - 104 Kirkgate, Leeds, LS2 7DJ & PREAPP/17/00154 for Residential development with A3/leisure and parking at Car Park, Crown Street, Leeds
	10 PREAPP/17/00138 - Pre-Application Presentation for a 8-14 storeys of 300 flats with landscaping, parking and associated works to Land Off Flax Place, Richmond Street And Marsh Lane, Cross Green, LS9 8HG

